

Advice from Moral Experts

An Assessment of the European Group on Ethics in Science and New Technologies (EGE)

Eilev Hegstad

ARENA Report No 3/16

Advice from Moral Experts

An Assessment of the European Group on Ethics in Science and New Technologies (EGE)

Eilev Hegstad

Copyright © ARENA and the author ISBN (print) 978-82-8362-006-1 ISBN (online) 978-82-8362-007-8 ARENA Report Series (print) | ISSN 0807-3139 ARENA Report Series (online) | ISSN 1504-8152

Printed at ARENA Centre for European Studies University of Oslo P.O. Box 1143, Blindern N-0318 Oslo, Norway Tel: + 47 22 85 87 00 Fax: + 47 22 85 87 10

E-mail: <u>arena@arena.uio.no</u> http://www.arena.uio.no

Oslo, December 2016

Abstract

Moral experts – people who presumably know more about moral issues than others – play an important role in giving advice to governments on how to deal with ethical questions through ethics committees. The existence of these committees raises fundamental normative questions concerning the limits and the legitimate role of moral experts in decision-making processes. It is contested whether moral expertise exists. However, it is difficult to have any meaningful understanding of these institutional arrangements if we cannot expect these moral experts to deliver good advice to governments. The assumption that moral expertise exists therefore underlies this thesis. In fact, the legitimacy of ethics committees is intimately connected to their members' performance as moral experts, and it is therefore important to develop criteria to evaluate their performance. Therefore, in the first part of this thesis, relevant epistemic criteria for assessing deliberation of moral experts on ethics committees are developed on the basis of three overall concerns: logical validity, empirical soundness and normative reasonableness.

The European Commission has a vast number of advisory committees. For example the European Group on Ethics in Science and New Technologies (EGE) composed of philosophers, theologians, lawyers and scientists, is tasked with giving advice on ethical questions to the Commission through Opinions. In the second part of this thesis, the criteria developed are applied to EGE's Opinion number 23 *Ethical aspects of animal cloning for food supply* to evaluate the EGE's work. Before applying the criteria to a concrete committee, a consideration as to whether the institutional context of the committee should delimit the criteria in any way is conducted.

The analysis shows that the EGE's recommendations are logically valid. There are certain shortcomings on empirical soundness, mainly related to the use of references. By not presenting different ethical viewpoints and having a low degree of justification, normative reasonableness is the criterion that the EGE is furthest from meeting. After the analysis, the relevance of the criteria, possible explanations for these findings, policy implications and suggestions for future research are discussed.

Acknowledgements

This thesis has been finished through a lot of reading, writing – and last but not least – thinking. That makes for an enjoyable year!

Research Professor Cathrine Holst has been my main supervisor and deserves a big thank you. She has helped me from the very beginning, when the project was only a general wondering about moral expertise. Cathrine has given helpful suggestions along the way. Moreover, she has worked and written about many of the same issues that I encountered during the writing of this thesis, and has informed my thinking on this – which will be evident from the many references to her work.

Professor Robert Huseby has been my co-supervisor. He has contributed to making the argument in the thesis more streamlined and coherent, and has been a great help throughout my thesis.

This thesis has been written with a student grant from ARENA – Center for European Studies. It has been a rewarding experience to take part in a vibrant research environment, and has made writing the thesis more inspiring.

I would also like to thank my parents for their support throughout the process.

Finally, and most importantly, I would like to thank Rode. Without you, I would have been much hungrier for love, care and good food. Any remaining mistakes are my responsibility alone.

Oslo, May 2016

Eilev Hegstad

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Background and research question	1
Earlier research	3
Moral expertise	6
European Group on Ethics in Science and New Technologies	8
Outline of thesis	
	40
Chapter 2: Methodology	
Critical analysis of ideas	
Argument analysis	
Methodological challenges	
Data sources	
Generalizability	
Conducting the analysis	22
Chapter 3: Criteria	25
Specification of criteria	
Logically valid	
Empirically sound	
Normatively reasonable	
How the criteria relate to the institutional context of the EGE	
Summing up	
Chantan A. Analasa'a	25
Chapter 4: Analysis	
Opinion number 23	
Logically valid	
Empirically sound	
Normatively reasonable	
Summing up	56
Chapter 5: Conclusion	59
The relevance of the criteria	
Policy implications and further research	62
Deferences	67

List of Tables

Table 3.1: Overview of the criteria	36
Table 4.1: Overview of the main findings from the analysis	.58

Chapter 1

Introduction

Background and research question

Moral experts — people who presumably know more about moral issues than others — play an important role in giving advice to governments on how to deal with ethical questions. The existing system of governmental advisory committees points to the centrality of expertise in contemporary democratic governing. Frank Vibert (2007, p. 12) has described this as a new branch of government "with a special responsibility for the handling and dissemination of information, the analysis of evidence and the deployment and use of the most up-to-date empirical knowledge". This development in governing raises fundamental normative questions concerning the limits and the legitimate role of expertise in decision-making processes. This is especially pressing with regard to governmental advisory committees dealing with ethical questions, 1 as the existence of moral expertise is highly controversial.

Interestingly, a common view is that "unelected bodies take on a special responsibility for empirical judgments in policymaking and elected bodies focus on value judgments" (Vibert, 2007, p. 34). This

¹ Hereafter referred to as *ethics committees*. Ethics committees are a subset of governmental advisory committees. When the latter is used in the text it refers to the whole set.

view does not, however, account for current institutional arrangements. Many ethics committees give governments advice on a range of different ethical issues. In fact, it is difficult to have any meaningful understanding of these institutional arrangements if we cannot expect these moral experts to deliver good advice to governments. In other words, deliver moral expertise. The unelected branch that these committees are a part of draws their legitimacy from the belief that their expertise will contribute to improve governing. In the words of Thomas Christiano (2012, p. 32) they ensure the "truth-sensitivity" of decisions. Ethics committees 'main purpose is to give ethical advice, and it should be a topic of scholarship to investigate experts' epistemic performance (Holst & Tørnblad, 2015, pp. 166–167).

In the European Union (EU), the European Commission, ² an unelected body, sits at the center of institutional arrangements. In addition to in-house expertise, expert groups play an important role in EU governance. The European Commission currently has 825 expert groups (European Commission, n.d.). The European Group on Ethics in Science and New Technologies (EGE), composed of philosophers, theologians, lawyers and scientists, is such a group. As the name suggests, this group gives the Commission some advice on ethical questions relating to sciences and new technologies. In a system such as the EU, where direct democratic accountability is limited, it is even more pressing to investigate the epistemic performance of experts. This report will therefore answer two interrelated research questions. The first part of the report will answer the question: What are relevant epistemic criteria for assessing deliberations of moral experts on ethics committees? Thereafter, the second part of the report will apply these criteria by answering the question: To what extent does the European Group on Ethics in Science and New Technologies (EGE) meet these criteria in their Opinion number 23?

A couple of terms in the research questions need clarification. The first is deliberation, and the second is epistemic. Deliberations take place in many aspects of a committees' work. In this report, the deliberation of the committee as it is expressed in the final report will be studied. As stated in the first research question, epistemic criteria

T (1 (

² Hereafter referred to as the *Commission*.

will be used in this assessment. The word epistemic means relating to knowledge. Epistemic criteria are then criteria that if fulfilled increase the likelihood of true, or at least reliable, beliefs.

A study of expertise can draw on a vast range of literature, although, according to Frank Fischer (2009, p. 17) it has not been an important topic in political science. The discussion about the legitimate role of expertise in governing covers a broad range of different expertise arrangements differing in degree and versions (for an overview see Holst, 2012). It is this literature that this report seeks to contribute to and is placed within. More specifically, this report aims to add to the existing literature in two regards. Firstly, in light of concerns about democratic legitimacy, standards for assessing expert institutions have been relatively absent. The criteria developed in this report can serve as deliberative ideals for moral experts on ethics committees. Moreover, these criteria can be used in empirical research to ascertain whether a committee fulfills the deliberative standards that we should expect. Secondly, there has been a lack of focus on moral expertise in research on expertise. Due to the controversial nature of moral expertise and the large number of ethics committees, assessing the epistemic performance of moral experts is critical.

Earlier research

It is useful to start with an overview of the existing literature. An expert's role in governing is often equated with elitism, and opposed to rule by the people. The most famous pronouncement of this view is Plato's (trans. 1994) argument in the Republic for the rule of philosopher-kings. However, the expert's role in democracy has gained a new interest with the epistemic turn in normative political theory. Jason Brennan (2011, p. 115) argues that: "Every plausible democratic theory needs to hold that democracy is justified in part because it tends to produce the morally right outcomes". In short, to be legitimate, a democracy has to deliver good outcomes. In a democracy, experts can therefore have a legitimate role to play in delivering "truth-sensitive" decisions (Christiano, 2012, p. 36). David Estlund (2008) has coined the term epistocracy to describe the form of government where the knowers or the wise rule. Because of the risk of epistocracy, epistemic justifications for democracy are seldom regarded as sufficient. In addition, normative defences of democracy must refer to proceduralist defences of democracy, which holds that democracy is an intrinsically just method for making decisions.

The view that democracy should deliver good outcomes to be legitimate has had consequences for developments in modern governing. The increasing delegation of power to depoliticized expert bodies such as courts, independent governmental agencies and central banks, are some examples. These bodies are given substantial decision-making powers on the premise that they will make better decisions than politicians will. Debate concerning expertise has also been part of legal theory through discussions on the merits of judicial reviews (Dorsen & Rosenfeld, 2009). However, in the judicial branch, expertise and expert testimony is a recognized and natural part of a well-functioning legal system (Jasanoff, 1997). Governmental advisory committees are also part of this development.

This heavy reliance on expert advice has been called a "new separation of powers" (Vibert, 2007). Cathrine Holst (2012, p. 51) has therefore asked "whether we must also include what we might call a basic 'fact of expertise' alongside 'the basic fact of pluralism' and other basic facts normative theory must recognize" (see also Kitcher, 2011). In fact, it is difficult – if not impossible – to imagine how our society could be governed without relying extensively on expert advice and decisions. Because of this, knowledge-based decision-making and reliance on expertise is not something that one can be *for* or *against* per se. Rather these arrangements can be more or less legitimate or illegitimate (Gornitzka & Holst, 2015a, p. 3) This is not only a theoretical problem, as numerous writers have described the lack of trust in experts as one of the critical issues of our time (Fischer, 2009, p. 4).

Obviously, expertise can be used for other purposes beside knowledge-based decision-making. Sonja Boehmer-Christiansen (1995, p. 197) lists: legitimacy, persuasion, delaying or avoiding action, justification for unpopular policies, arbitrating disputes, and clarification of conflicting interests (see also Boswell, 2009; Tellmann, 2016).

In any modern society we need an "epistemic division of labor" (Holst & Molander, 2014, p. 19). Within this division of labor, the legitimacy of governmental advisory committees is intimately connected to their performance as expert committees. It is reasonable to believe that the truth-sensitivity of decisions is tied to the deliberative qualities of decision-making processes (Holst, 2012, p.

Introduction 5

50). It is therefore important to assess the quality of such deliberations by comparing them to an independent standard, which is the concern of this report. Such a standard could include aspects such as freedom, openness of the deliberative process, the reasons given or the outcomes (Bohman, 2006, p. 218). In this report, epistemic aspects of deliberation will be the focus. Recent attempts at operationalizing deliberative democracy include a Discourse Quality Index (Steenbergen, Bächtiger, Spörndli & Steiner, 2003), however, this index will not be used because as a quantitative index it will not be able to sufficiently answer the research question.

This report will draw upon two important sources of research. The first source is research on ethics committees, in the literature also referred to as public bioethics (Moore, 2010, pp. 715-716), and the role of moral expertise in this context. Different aspects have been studied including: The justification for ethics committees and the role of moral experts (Crosthwaite, 1995; Elster, 2007); the different approaches of different ethics committees have been compared (Hare, 1988; Nelson, 2005); the democratic role of bioethics committees and the role of philosophers in policymaking (Brock, 1987; Eckenwiler & Cohn, 2009; Kymlicka, 1993; Wolff, 2011). Moreover, the roles and methods of moral reasoning employed by ethics committees have been of interest (Cohen, 2005), as well as studies of committees in different countries (Walters, 1989). This research has not been particularly concerned with evaluating deliberations on these committees, or creating standards that they can be assessed by. However, the research on the role of moral experts on these committees will be relevant for the development of the criteria in this report.

The second source is research on expert groups in the EU. There has been an increasing interest in this system of expert groups. Gornitzka and Sverdrup (2008) have examined and explained the expert group system of the EU as a crucial property of the EU governance system. In a special issue journal on the expert-executive nexus in the EU (Gornitzka & Holst, 2015b) many aspects of expertise in the EU were studied, including how to assess EU experts' performance (Holst & Tørnblad, 2015). How the Commission has communicated about its use of expertise (Holst & Moodie, 2015), expert group reform (Moodie, 2016) and how expert groups are used in the policy process (Metz, 2013) have also been studied. It was only in 2005 that the

Commission launched an online register of expert groups, and it was not until 2009 that it was fully updated (European Commission, 2010a, p. 2). The EGE has also been of interest to researchers: issues such as the politics of biotechnology governance and the role of the EGE in this (Salter & Jones, 2002), as well as the influence of the EGE (Busby, Hervey, & Mohr, 2008; Mohr, Busby, Hervey & Dingwall, 2012), have been studied. Moreover, the appointment, composition, the nature of its Opinions and the way these are used have been studied by Aurora Plomer (2008). This research gives background to how the EGE works and what regulations the EGE are subject to.

This report does not take a position on whether these expert arrangements are legitimate. But it recognizes that they are widespread and that it is worth exploring how these experts can be assessed in light of democratic legitimacy concerns. However, the findings in this report can be relevant for the debate, since how well these committees function is part of what determines their legitimacy.

Moral expertise

The assumption that moral expertise exists underlies this study. A common position is that experts deal with the technical issues, and politicians or the public deal with value issues (see for example Kitcher, 2011, p. 57; Vibert, 2007, p. 34). However, we have a set of existing institutional arrangements, of which EGE is one example, which it is difficult to have any meaningful understanding of without an expectation that these bodies should deliver moral expertise, and that these committees are given a special normative authority (Elster, 2007, p. 18). In this context, Alvin Goldman's (2001, p. 91) comparative definition of expertise – applied on moral expertise – is helpful to understand what is meant by this concept. Moral expertise can be defined as "have[ing] more beliefs (or high degrees of belief) in true propositions and/or fewer beliefs in false propositions within that domain than most people do (or better: than the vast majority of people do)." Moreover, Goldman's definition also includes a threshold. To qualify as an expert, "a person must possess a substantial body of truths" (2001, p. 91). Also, underlying this system of ethics committees lies an assumption that ethical expertise leads to

Introduction 7

moral expertise.³ Many of these committees have members such as philosophers, ethicists and theologians whom it is reasonable to believe are there because of their moral expertise. If the assumption that moral expertise exists proved to be untrue it would make very little sense for these committees to even exist. Instead, these committees could be replaced by information centers that only sought to inform the debates and did not give advice on these issues (Elster, 2007, p. 15).

When expertise is discussed, what is most often referred to is technical expertise. There is widespread agreement that technical expertise exists. Whether moral expertise exists is more controversial.⁴ That some are better than others at predicting the weather – and that this is a skill and an accompanying method that can be taught – is relatively uncontroversial. Moral expertise is different because it is difficult to identify what the correct judgments are. This is due to the lack of independent checks (McGrath, 2008). Some believe that moral expertise does not exist for this reason (see for example Archard, 2011; Cowley, 2005; Dahl, 1989, p. 66).

The absence of independent checks makes it difficult to assess whether a moral expert has reached the correct moral judgment. This is because such an assessment requires a higher level of moral expertise than the person that is being assessed. The question then becomes who is to assess the moral expert assessing the moral expert and so on. This issue can be avoided by studying formal features of moral reasoning. Besides avoiding this issue, the research question asks for epistemic criteria to assess deliberations, therefore it is not the moral judgments in themselves that are of interest, but the formal

_

³ On a conceptual level it is meaningful to make a distinction between ethical and moral expertise. Martin Hoffmann (2012, p. 305) makes the distinction between these by describing ethical expertise as someone informed about relevant moral theories and the relevant empirical background knowledge. Moral expertise is defined by Hoffmann (2012, p. 305) as people who have "privileged access to true or correct judgments about what is morally good, bad, allowed, forbidden or required". However, on the premise that reason and logical argument play a role in ethics then ethical expertise is a *necessary* but not *sufficient* requirement of being a moral expert. Moreover, moral expertise does not automatically translate into acting in morally superior ways.

⁴ For an overview, see Lisa Rasmussen (2006).

features of deliberation. High quality deliberations are believed to increase the likelihood of true, or at least reliable, beliefs.

It is plausible to operate with a concept of moral expertise if we assume "that reason and logical argument have some role to play in ethics" (Singer, 1988, p. 152). If this is the case, then some will be better than others at reasoning and logical argument and therefore have more competence in this area than others. These people can be viewed as moral experts using the definition of moral expertise given.⁵ Peter Singer (1988, pp. 153–154) points to five advantages that a moral expert has over a layman. Firstly, the moral expert has the ability to reason well and logically, to avoid fallacious reasoning and to detect fallacies in the reasoning of others. Secondly, the moral expert has some understanding of moral concepts and the nature of ethics. Thirdly, the moral expert has a reasonable amount of knowledge of the major ethical theories. Fourthly, the moral expert must be well informed about the facts that are relevant for the ethical issues under consideration. Lastly, the moral expert has time to think and reflect about ethical issues. This is one, often referred to, way of arguing for the existence of moral expertise.

If reason and logic did not play any role in determining the right answers to ethical questions, then deliberations would be very difficult – if not impossible – to assess. Reason and logic are part of the independent standard that moral experts should be assessed by. This will be the basis on which the criteria are developed.

European Group on Ethics in Science and New Technologies (EGE)

The criteria developed in Chapter 3 will be applied to the European Group on Ethics in Science and New Technologies. The EGE was first established in 1991 as the Group of Advisers on Ethical Implications of Biotechnology (GAEIB). The name was changed in the mandate in 1997. The Group has been a permanent and formal⁶ expert group since its inception. The current mandate ended in January 2016, and

⁵ It might seem that discussing moral expertise is done on the premise of moral realism. However, Karen Jones and François Schroeter (2012, p. 220) argue that only two metaethical positions are incompatible with the existence of moral expertise; simple subjectivism and simple expressivism.

⁶ This means that it is set up by a Commission decision.

Introduction 9

has not yet been renewed. The role of the EGE is to advise the Commission on ethical questions relating to science and new technologies in connection with EU legislation or policies. The EGE is a Commission expert group and is therefore subject to regulations on commissions' expert groups that were developed after 2002. In addition, they have their own mandate and rules of procedure.

In his typology of the EU committee system, Mark Rhinard (2002, p. 192) breaks the different committees into three divisions based on the stage of policymaking that the committees are most closely associated with. Firstly, there are Commission advisory committees, which are most closely associated with policy formulation. Secondly, there are Council working groups, which are most closely associated with policy decisions and, finally, Comitology committees that are most closely associated with policy implementation. The EGE is a Commission advisory committee in this typology. However, throughout this report the term governmental advisory committee, or ethics committee will be used because the EGE is an example of a phenomenon that is widespread also outside the EU, and the criteria developed will also be relevant for advisory committees outside the EU. Besides being an example of a governmental advisory committee, the EGE is also an example of an ethics committee. We can distinguish between, on the one hand, ethics committees dealing with specific ethical cases, such as ethics review committees and research ethics committees, and on the other hand, committees dealing with ethical issues, such as national ethics councils. The EGE is an example of the latter as their role is to give advice on ethical questions that should guide public policy, not give advice on specific cases.

The relevance of studying the EGE is perhaps not obvious. The reports that the EGE publish are called Opinions. These Opinions possess the formal status of non-binding advisory documents. The relevance of these documents can be seen in that they have been invoked by different institutions in the EU and at national level. They have become part of the EU deliberative process. For example, Directives touching upon values explicitly mention that the Opinions of the EGE have been taken into account (Tallacchini, 2009, p. 297), and Commission regulations state that a "proposal submitted by departments for Commission decision should be accompanied by a description of the expert advice considered, and how the proposal takes this into account" (European Commission, 2002a, pp. 12–13).

The EGE also acts as a key reference point for the 28 National Ethics Councils in the EU (European Commission, 2016).

The criteria that are developed in this report will be applicable to all ethics committees. However, when applying them to a concrete committee, the criteria have to be negatively delimited by taking the institutional context that the committee operates within into account. In this case, this includes the mandate of the EGE, its rules of procedure and the existing regulations on Commission expert groups. The EGE cannot be expected to fulfil the criteria if the context that the committee operates within contradicts them. In Chapter 3, after the criteria have been developed and before the assessment, a discussion will be included concerning whether the criteria have to be delimited in any way before they are applied to the EGE.

The EGE was created in the wake of advances in biotechnology in the late 1980s and early 1990s (Plomer, 2008, p. 840). On 11 May 2005 the Commission adopted the decision on the renewal of the mandate of the EGE (European Commission, 2005a). The EGE is composed of fifteen members, appointed by the President of the Commission. Its members are nominated ad personam and are appointed based on their expertise and geographical distribution that reflects the diversity of the EU. In the mandate period from 2005-2010, the committee consisted of fifteen members with backgrounds in professions such as philosophy, theology, law and science (European Commission, 2005b). All of the members had a background in academia. The committee has status as an advisory body and gives advice either at the request of the Commission President or on its own initiative. The committee adopts its own rules of procedure (EGE, 2005). Since 1991, the EGE has published 28 Opinions on a range of issues from stem cell research, cloning, developments in agricultural technology and security and surveillance technology. The rules of procedure or any of the other regulations put forward by the Commission are not very specific on the format of the Opinions. The committee chooses its own chairperson and vice-chairperson and:

_

⁷ Opinion number 23 was published on 16 January 2008 and it is therefore the mandate and the rules of procedure from the mandate period 2005–2010 that is relevant.

Introduction 11

Different Chairs have adopted different approaches, for instance on how discursive the meetings are; the selection of rapporteurs for each Opinion; encouraging dissenting Opinions rather than proceeding by unanimity; the style, structure and length of the Opinions themselves; and the use of experts and round table discussions.

(Busby et al., 2008, p. 839)

The Opinions issued by the EGE vary greatly in length and have become longer during the last two mandate periods.

Outline

This report is divided into five chapters. In Chapter 2, the relevant methodological considerations will be presented and discussed. To develop and apply relevant epistemic criteria for assessing deliberations of moral experts on ethics committees, the critical analysis of ideas is the methodology used. This includes conducting argument analysis before the application of the criteria. After this methodology is presented, methodological challenges, data sources and generalizability will be discussed. Lastly, how the analysis will be conducted is described.

Chapter 3 is where the relevant epistemic criteria for evaluating deliberations of moral experts on governmental advisory committees are developed. The criteria will build on Beckman's (2005, p. 58) three concerns for evaluating ideas; that they are logically valid, empirically sound and normatively reasonable. These criteria will be further specified in the chapter. How and whether the criteria need to be delimited to take into account the institutional context that the EGE operates within will be discussed in the last part of the chapter.

In Chapter 4, the analysis is conducted. Opinion number 23 *Ethical* aspects of animal cloning for food supply from the EGE will be analyzed with the goal of answering the question as to what extent the report meets the criteria set forth in Chapter 3.

Chapter 5 will summarize the findings and discuss the relevance of these criteria, including suggestions for improvements. Possible explanations for the findings, and the policy implications that this has will also be discussed. Finally, suggestions for future research will be put forward.

Chapter 2

Methodology

This chapter will describe the relevant methodological considerations. The report is divided into two parts. The first part seeks to develop relevant epistemic criteria for assessing deliberations of moral experts on ethics committees. This development will be done in Chapter 3. The second part is to apply these criteria to the EGE. This will be done in Chapter 4. The critical analysis of ideas is the relevant methodology. This includes argument analysis which will be used in the analysis. Methodological challenges, data sources, generalizability, and, finally, how the analysis will be conducted will also be discussed in this chapter.

Critical analysis of ideas

According to Ludvig Beckman (2005, p. 14), there are three possible goals with ideational analysis. Firstly, we can try do describe the relevant ideas (descriptive). Secondly, we can explain the idea's origin or consequences (casual). Thirdly, we can try to decide whether the ideas are justified (normative). To answer the research questions ideational analysis will be used with the latter goal in

mind. This has been described as the critical analysis of ideas⁸ and is systematically presented in Beckman (2005).

The critical analysis of ideas is built on the assumption that ideology is something that can be falsified (Bratberg, 2014, p. 73). It has a negative character, meaning that it does not concern itself with formulating a positive report, or to argue for a position or take a stand on political questions. Instead it is concerned with showing flaws in others thinking.

Beckman's (2005) presentation of critical analysis of ideas builds on that of Herbert Tingsten (1896–1973), professor in political science at Stockholms högskola, use of this method. All the components in Tingsten's critical analysis of ideas show a strongly held belief in rational thought and criticism. He saw the critical analysis of ideas as an instrument for rationalization which should drive society forward (Vedung, 1992, p. 102). Tingsten belonged to a school in the theory of which holds that value-questions are scientifically meaningless (Vedung, 1992, p. 101). How social scientists should relate to value-questions is an ongoing debate within the philosophy of social science. Tingsten's view is shared by notable scholars such as Max Weber (1994) and A. J. Ayer. In line with his rationalistic beliefs his criteria for judging ideas in a text was their logical validity, empirical soundness and that they did not consist of metaphysical illusions (Beckman, 2006, p. 333). The third criterion judged whether an ideology made metaphysical claims or not. He has been criticized for his view of value-questions by Beckman (2006) who argues that if normative political analysis is included in the critical analysis of ideas, the method becomes more useful for political science. Although we can be more confident in our empirical judgments than our normative judgments, the plausibility of normative claims can reasonably be discussed. On this background, Beckman (2005) includes normative reasonableness as a third criterion in his book Grundbok i idéanalys.

Criteria

Beckman (2005, p. 58) lists three criteria that can be used to evaluate ideas. The first is that they are logically valid; the second that they are

⁸ Evert Vedung (1982) has called this rational criticism or rational assessment.

⁹ See Heather Douglas (2009, pp. 44-65) for an overview of the debate.

empirically sound; and, finally that the arguments are normatively reasonable. These criteria will be used as a framework. Beckman's (2005) criteria need to be specified further for them to be useful as a tool for analysis as he only presents them in relatively general terms. Before applying the criteria to a specific committee, a consideration as to whether the institutional context of the committee should delimit the criteria in any way has to be conducted. This consideration will be done after the development of the criteria in Chapter 3.

To answer the research question the criteria have to meet certain requirements. They have to be relevant for assessing deliberations of moral experts. Moreover, the criteria have to be epistemic, meaning that if fulfilled the likelihood of true, or at least reliable beliefs are increased. This does not exclude criteria that can be both epistemic and non-epistemic at the same time. Non-epistemic criteria do not relate to knowledge, but to other types of concerns such as representability.

Imagining what criteria for an ethics committee consisting of laypersons could look like might make things clearer. Such criteria would be mainly non-epistemic as the expectation of such a committee would be different from that of an expert committee. Expertise is not what we would expect; rather it would be such things as how representative the committee is, its good intentions and transparency. However, epistemic criteria would not be irrelevant, they would just be less important and to a lesser degree.

Argument analysis

Before we can apply the criteria we have to identify which claims and recommendations are made. To do this, we will use argumentation analysis. Beckman (2005, p. 38) describes the analysis of arguments as "a partly formalized analysis technique to systematically describe the arguments that appear in a debate on a particular topic". ¹⁰ In this case, the goal is to use the argument analysis to make it possible to apply the criteria and assess the deliberations. Argument analysis can be conducted in either a qualitative or a quantitative way. The strength of quantitative analysis is its high reliability. Reliability

-

¹⁰ Author's translation. Original version reads: "Argumentationsanalysen är en delvis formaliserad analysteknik för att systematisk beskriva de argument som förekommer i en debatt i ett särskilt ämne."

concerns the quality of measurement, meaning the repeatability or consistency of measurement (Hellevik, 2002, p. 183). This is always lower in qualitative research than in quantitative research (Bratberg, 2014, pp. 101–103). Validity refers to whether a study answers the research question (Hellevik, 2002, p. 183). In this report, the validity of a quantitative analysis would be much lower than a qualitative. It will not be possible to answer the research question in a satisfactory way using quantitative measures as the quality of deliberation is not foremost signified by the number of arguments for and against or other such measures. The Discourse Quality Index (Steenbergen et al., 2003), a quantitative index, has been criticized because it counts the number of arguments that support a conclusion as a sign of good quality. This does not let us distinguish between whether the arguments are relevant, good, or whether they sufficiently support the conclusion (Friberg-Fernros & Schaffer, forthcoming).

Evaluating deliberations requires interpretation and evaluation. That does not mean that inter-subjectivity in the assessment is not a goal. Therefore, to make reliability as high as possible, it is important that it is made as clear as possible both how the criteria are decided upon and how they are applied to the Opinion of the EGE. This will hopefully make it possible to verify the findings in this report if anyone would like to repeat this investigation.

Argument analysis brings up the question of how to interpret an argument. The principle of charity is an ethical rule that requires criticism of a position to be generous, fair and just (Vedung, 1982, p. 106). When interpreting arguments and recommendations the interpretation that makes the argument most forceful and sensible should be chosen. This principle is a common requirement when assessing the validity of a position. Obviously, if a position can reasonably be understood in different ways, then the committee can be blamed for writing ambiguously. Making the criticism fit better by giving an unreasonable interpretation of an argument is blameworthy. This does not guarantee, however that there will not be misunderstandings or misreadings of the Opinion, or of the secondary sources used in the assessment.

Methodological challenges

There are several methodological challenges in this line of research that makes the research question in this report challenging to investigate. Cathrine Holst and Silje Tørnblad (2015) have written an article with the title *Variables and Challenges in Assessing EU Experts' Performance* describing the methodological challenges and ways of meeting these challenges in assessing experts' deliberations. The following discussion draws greatly on this article.

In the study of elite behavior two obstacles are often mentioned in the methodological literature; namely the problems of access and bias (Holst & Tørnblad, 2015, p. 173). The first problem is a difficulty of availability because people who are part of the knowledge elite often can be difficult to access. Moreover, elites may in certain situations have an interest in turning down requests from researchers, especially when the researcher seeks to evaluate their performance. The bias problem occurs because of the social nature of the interview. This does not exclusively relate to studies of elites, but is often made greater by elite informants. This is a challenge as long as the goal is to capture what elites actually do, not merely what they say they do.

Epistemic asymmetry is the key methodological challenge. The problem of epistemic asymmetry can be described in this way: "Due to their lack of expertise, non-experts cannot assess the epistemic quality of experts' judgments and justifications directly" (Holst & Tørnblad, 2015, p. 167). In the social epistemology literature it is known as the layperson-expert problem (Goldman, 2001, p. 92). In this report, the challenge is to evaluate moral experts' performance. This challenge would have been even greater if the assessment was of the moral truth of the recommendations and not formal features of deliberation. The former assessment would imply a higher moral expertise from the evaluator than the committee. Evaluating moral experts' performance can be doubly challenging as moral reasoning also involves technical facts. It is therefore not sufficient to evaluate moral experts' use of different moral theories; assessing their use of technical facts involved in moral reasoning is also necessary. It is interesting to note that this methodological problem is similar to the problem that motivates the research questions, namely that of democratic legitimacy.

Holst and Tørnblad (2015, pp. 174–175) suggest five strategies to meet the challenge of epistemic asymmetry. Firstly, one can increase one's expertise in the relevant domain. Secondly, one can reduce the problem of epistemic asymmetry by choosing cases where the initial

asymmetry is low or limited. Thirdly, a negative approach could be taken by looking for what is certainly *not* expertise. Fourthly, one can look at facets of deliberation that point toward epistemic quality which does not require expertise to evaluate. Fifth, one can identify and investigate extra-deliberative indicators of deliberative quality, for example epistemic parameters for selection of expert group members.

Since the research questions require an assessment of the epistemic qualities of deliberations, only the first two strategies are relevant. The case that is chosen, animal cloning for food supply, is one where the initial asymmetry is not too great. However, a good strategy is to increase one's expertise in the relevant domain by reading research conducted on the topic. These sources will be used in the analysis conducted in Chapter 4. It is a normal strategy in the critical analysis of ideas to use research conducted in the field, so-called secondary sources, to evaluate the claims that are made in a document being studied (Beckman, 2005, p. 67). In being clear about which sources are being used to evaluate the EGE the verifiability of the findings is also increased. By extension of the epistemic asymmetry problem, knowing which sources are reliable and which sources are not, requires a certain amount of knowledge. As long as the epistemic asymmetry is a challenge then one is in one form or another left with using some kind of indirect indicators for finding reliable sources.

Harry Collins and Robert Evans (2007, pp. 13-44) distinguish between *contributory expertise* and *interactional expertise*. Contributory expertise involves having the required competence to participate in the activity and advance its objectives. Interactional expertise involves the ability to talk about the activity and to understand talk about it, but without the competence to contribute to its being done. The latter form of expertise is regarded as sufficient to meet the challenge of epistemic asymmetry.

Applying the criterion logical validity is affected differently by epistemic asymmetry than the two other criteria. Logic is an expertise of its own, but it is independent of subject. This means that an expert in logic does not necessarily need a whole lot of knowledge about the subject to be able to assess the logical validity. Assessing empirical soundness and normative reasonableness requires a certain level of expertise in the subject.

Methodology 19

Another element is that Opinion number 23 was published in 2008 and it is safe to assume that the field has progressed since then. It would be unfair to use findings from after the report was written to evaluate the deliberations of the committee. This is especially relevant for the technical knowledge, and therefore any new findings after the report was published will not be included in the assessment.

An author's own bias can always be a methodological challenge to the degree that one notices things or does not notice things due to this bias. These pre-commitments can be such things as firm opinions on animal cloning, or strong opinions for or against moral expertise that affects the assessment of the EGE. The only way to meet this challenge, in this particular case, is to be as clear as possible about what is done, so as to increase the verifiability of the findings.

Data sources

With the methodological challenges in mind it is easier to explain the reasoning behind choosing an Opinion from the EGE as the data source. There are many interesting normative questions concerning moral experts and governmental advisory committees. One example could be what criteria should be used when appointing moral experts to these committees. In a sense, this would be a question of how to identify moral experts (Hoffmann, 2012; McGrath, 2011). However, the research question in this report concerns deliberations of moral experts on ethics committees, and, therefore, suitable data sources are needed to apply the criteria to.

Holst and Tørnblad (2015, p. 173) point to four possible data sources that can be used to study the expert groups of the European Commission. Firstly, there is background information available on the different expert groups in the Register of Commission Expert Groups. This could be a possible data source if indeed it was the identification of moral experts which was the goal of this report. Secondly, asking the experts themselves about their behavior either by interviewing them or conducting surveys. This strategy would have to meet both the access problem and the bias problem and only gives us the experts' view of their deliberations. Thirdly, there is the possibility of observing meetings. This is most likely not a viable option as Alison Mohr et al. (2012, p. 106) requested to attend

meetings of the EGE and were denied.¹¹ The Commission (2005a) has written that the EGE's working sessions shall be private. Furthermore, the EGE's (2005, p. 3) rules of procedure go further by stating that "the working sessions of the Group are private and their deliberations are confidential to the Group". Finally, they point to the possibility of studying public documents. In the case of the EGE this would be to study the deliberations in the Opinions. This is the best option because one avoids the access and bias problem.

There are another two reasons why studying an Opinion from the EGE is the best option. Firstly, the finished Opinion and how it discusses the ethical issues tells us something about the process that the committee has gone through. It shows deliberations that lead to conclusions on substance as it is presented in the Opinion. Secondly, there is not necessarily a causal connection between the quality of committee deliberation in meetings and deliberation in the final report, and vice versa. These two different sources of information can say different things about the quality of deliberations. The EGE's legitimacy should primarily be evaluated by assessing deliberations that are presented to the public. Therefore, it is natural to choose to assess the deliberation in an Opinion from the EGE. Opinion number 23 Ethical aspects of animal cloning for food supply is going to be analyzed because this is a case where the initial asymmetry is lower than if any of the other Opinions was chosen. This is because I have an interest in animal ethics and am somewhat familiar with the debate. Moreover, this Opinion is of interest because it has been referenced in a proposal for a directive on cloning animals for farming purposes from the European Commission (2013). This data source will meet the motivation behind this report in a better way than any of the other possible data sources, and is why the research question is formed as it is. The criteria will be developed with this in mind.

This means that the criteria will apply to an Opinion from the EGE as a whole and not to individual members of the committee. Despite this, the individuals might have a responsibility for making sure that the criteria are fulfilled in the Opinions. Moreover, there will be instances

-

¹¹ Interestingly, the European Commission (2002a, p. 12) states that: "Departments should consider allowing the public to observe certain expert meetings, particularly on sensitive policy issues".

Methodology 21

where members are not appointed to the committee due to their moral expertise. For example, it would be natural to have people with a medical background on ethical committees dealing with biotechnological questions. However, it does not change the fact that these committees are expert committees and should be assessed as such. Not every single individual on the committee has to be considered a moral expert for the committee as a whole to be evaluated on the background of its moral expertise.

Generalizability

With these choices in mind, it is possible to discuss the generalizability of the criteria and the findings from the analysis. The epistemic criteria are developed with the goal of assessing deliberations of moral experts on ethics committees in general. This means that the criteria will be generalizable to all ethics committees giving advice to governments. However, when the criteria are used to assess a specific ethics committee they might have to be negatively delimited to take into account the institutional context that the committee operates within. This ensures that concerns that the criteria are based on are safeguarded, but at the same time that they are not used to assess ethics committees by standards they are told not to fulfil.

To what degree are the criteria that are going to be developed relevant to all governmental advisory committees? Many of the same criteria for evaluating ethics committees are relevant for dealing with technical issues. Evert Vedung (1982, p. 182) writes:

Political value statements must be appraised on the basis...of rationality that apply to political discourse in general. However, statements of value are commonly regarded as having a special position. They cannot be judged in exactly the same way as statements of fact.

Following Vedung, it is clear that moral reasoning must fulfil many of the same standards as reasoning about other things. Both logical validity and empirical soundness should be expected from all governmental advisory committees. When it comes to normative reasonableness it is correct to have higher expectations of ethics committees. Partly this is due to the lack of independent checks. However, governmental advisory committees dealing with technical

questions also have to make value judgments in the way they handle uncertainty in the research, for example. Therefore, normative reasonableness can also be relevant for these committees but perhaps to a different degree and with different specifications.

The conclusions drawn from assessing Opinion number 23 from the EGE will foremost say something about the deliberations in this particular Opinion. However, under certain conditions some or all of the general findings may also be true for other Opinions that the EGE has written. These conditions are if the EGE has written other Opinions in a similar manner to the one being assessed in this report. Even if some of the findings can be rightfully expected to be true for other Opinions, it will not be possible to say for certain without assessing these other Opinions.

Conducting the analysis

The analysis will be conducted in Chapter 4. Instead of dividing the analysis into two chapters; one where the relevant facts concerning animal cloning and different ethical views are presented and one where the analysis is conducted, these two things will be done simultaneously in the text in Chapter 4. The relevant information for assessing the report will be presented as the analysis unfolds and references will be provided. This is done to ease reading and avoid unnecessary repetition. Before the analysis is attempted the epistemic asymmetry has to be decreased by familiarization with the subject. As mentioned before, this brings up the question of reliable sources. Peer-reviewed articles and books are seen as reliable sources along with reports from the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA). The EFSA is the source for the scientific evidence in the EGE Opinion. The sources that are used in the evaluation are referenced and it will therefore be possible for the reader to check which sources are used. EGE's Opinion number 23 is 51 pages dealing with scientific background, legal aspects and ethical issues related to animal cloning. In the last part the EGE presents their recommendations. The Opinion will be assessed using a holistic approach. The recommendations will be presented and the arguments that are presented for and against will be reconstructed. The criteria will then be applied. As such, only arguments that are linked to one of the recommendations will be assessed. This is the most natural way of conducting the analysis as evaluating the normative reasonableness requires an evaluation of the whole argument, and not only of single sentences or paragraphs

Methodology 23

taken out of context. Something that is presented in one part of the Opinion might be supplemented by something in another part of the Opinion, and this has to be evaluated as a whole.

Chapter 3

Criteria

In this chapter relevant criteria for assessing deliberations of moral experts on ethics committees will be developed. Underlying the development of these criteria is the assumption that some form of moral expertise exists. A brief section on the goal of the criteria and the specification of these will begin this chapter. The specification of the three overall concerns; logical validity, empirical soundness and normative reasonableness will follow. Normative reasonableness will be divided into three further criteria; degree of clarification, clarity about uncertainties and assumptions, and degree of justification. As the criteria might have to be delimited to take into account the institutional context that the EGE operates within before the analysis is conducted, a section on this will follow after the specification. Lastly, a short summary and a table with an overview of the criteria will be included.

Specification of criteria

The research question asks for relevant epistemic criteria to assess deliberations of moral experts on ethics committees. These criteria do not, then, seek to evaluate the moral truth of the recommendations made by the committee. This would imply evaluating a report with a

certain view of the ethical question in mind, in other words, doing an evaluation of a specific outcome or conclusion of a committee. In the case of animal cloning, this would be to assess the report from a standpoint of being for or against cloning. However, these criteria seek to evaluate the epistemic qualities of deliberation that there is reason to believe brings us closer to the moral truth. Jane Mansbridge and John Parkinson (2012, p. 11) write that "the epistemic function of a deliberative system is to produce preferences, opinions, and decisions that are appropriately informed by facts and logic...and relevant reasons". In other words, that the deliberations increase the likelihood of true, or at least reliable, beliefs.

Not all relevant epistemic criteria are included, however, because the criteria developed in this report will be applied to one report. Therefore, possible criteria like requiring consensus (Moreno, 1988, 1995) or epistemic pluralism (Holst, 2015a, p. 364) will not be included. Moreover, even after the criteria have been specified there will be room for subjectivity in the way that the criteria are applied.

In the following sections the criteria will be specified based on Ludvig Beckman's (2005) framework. This framework for evaluating ideas includes three concerns: logical validity, empirical soundness and normative reasonableness. This ensures that facts, logic and relevant reasons are assessed.

Logically valid

Beckman's (2005, pp. 59–65) first criterion for evaluating ideas is that they are logically valid. Logic can be defined as the study of valid arguments or the study of a consistent set of beliefs, and therefore the logician is concerned with the compatibility of beliefs (Hodges, 2001, p. 1). Heather Douglas (2009, p. 94) describes why this is important:

Internal consistency should be considered an epistemic value, in that an internally inconsistent theory must have something wrong within it. Because internal inconsistency implies a fundamental contradiction within a theory, and from a clear contradiction any random conclusions (or predictions) can be drawn, lacking internal consistency is a serious epistemic failing.

When assessing arguments for their logical validity it is important to distinguish between something being true and something being logically valid. An argument can be logically valid without also being true. To give an example, the statement "Norway is a country in Africa" is logically valid but is obviously not true. Therefore, by evaluating whether an argument is logically valid it is not the truth-value that is determined but its logical properties.

There is vast debate among scholars on logic. Douglas Walton, Chris Reed and Fabrizio Macagno (2008) identified some 60 different argumentation schemes, along with criteria that premises should meet in order to provide support for the conclusion. From this it is clear that some choices have to be made because not every aspect can be evaluated. Beckman (2005, p. 59) presents two different criteria for evaluating the logical validity of an idea; non-contradiction and valid inferences. These two specifications will be included along with the naturalistic fallacy, ¹² which is also known as the technocratic fallacy, and wishful thinking.

There is nothing that indicates that ethics committees' reports commonly fail to meet the criteria of non-contradiction and valid inferences. These criteria are included because if they are not met it would be a serious epistemic failing. Naturalistic fallacy and wishful thinking, however, are included because the literature indicates that these might be more of a common issue in these types of reports (Habermas, 1988, p. 253ff; Holst, 2015a, p. 359).

The criterion of non-contradiction is an obvious requirement for an argument to be logically valid. Contradictions can either be contrary or adversarial (Beckman, 2005, p. 60). If two statements are contrary they both cannot be true, but both can be false. If two statements are adversarial one has to be true and one has to be false.

Arguments where the conclusions do not follow from the premises are often referred to as logical fallacies. A group of premises can be consistent without making a conclusive argument. To see whether arguments are logically valid, so that conclusions follow from the

¹² Natural law theory does not accept the naturalistic fallacy, rather it is claimed that certain aspects of nature are norm giving (see debate between Lon Fuller and Ernest Nagel in John Finnis, 1991, pp. 3–58).

premises, reconstructing arguments in the form of syllogisms can be helpful.

One form of logical fallacy that there is reason to be especially concerned about is naturalistic fallacy. Naturalistic fallacy is the attempt to argue from an *is* to an *ought*. In other words, to argue from facts to what ought to be done. Wishful thinking is the opposite, to argue from an *ought* to an *is*. In other words, from what ought to be done to facts.

Empirically sound

Beckman (2005, pp. 65–69) offers empirically sound as the second criterion for evaluating ideas. He argues that to test whether an argument is empirically sound, three questions have to be answered. Firstly, what is the evidence for the claims that are made? Secondly, is the evidence presented correct? And, thirdly, are the claims possible to test or verify?

To answer the first question, two things need to be done. Firstly, determining what claims are made, and, secondly, what evidence is given for these claims. The second question means determining whether the evidence given for the claims is correct or not. Verifying the correctness of such evidence could quickly turn into many independent research projects far beyond the scope of this report. Therefore, the evidence will be evaluated with the use of research already conducted in the field. In the case of Opinion number 23 from the EGE the empirical claims will mostly relate to scientific questions and risk assessments related to animal cloning.

The third question asks whether the claims made are possible to test or verify. Specifically, it asks whether the claims are possible to test scientifically. This question is inspired by Herbert Tingsten's view that value-questions are scientifically meaningless. Science is here understood as the systematic study of the material world. If claims are not scientific, on this understanding, then they are metaphysical claims. The point of distinguishing claims that are metaphysical from scientific claims is to say something about the arguments relation to science and research. By using the word value instead of metaphysical this distinction might become clearer. Whether animal suffering is bad is a value-question. This claim cannot be tested scientifically, but the plausibility of the claim can rightfully be

discussed. Accordingly, when arguing about moral questions, value claims are a natural part of the discussion. However, to assess these value claims we have to include another criterion, namely normative reasonableness.

Normatively reasonable

Arguments can be criticized for being illogical or empirically unsound. Moreover, the values that arguments are based upon can be criticized for being more or less reasonable given a certain starting point. Beckman (2005, p. 72) describes two different strategies for the choice of starting point, internal and external. It is important to keep in mind that while the two first criteria could be applied to assess individual arguments; this criterion has to be applied to the deliberation as a whole.

Internal criticism of ideas means taking those ideals and values that the text itself takes as its starting point and ask whether the argument that is pursued is reasonable given the starting point that the text says it defends (Beckman, 2005, p. 72). One way of doing this is looking at incoherence in the text. A theory is incoherent if the arguments or the normative claims that are made cannot be deduced from a coherent framework of principles and values. If this is the case, the principles that are put forward in the text could be shown to be incompatible with each other. Another possibility is to point toward implications of a belief that seems to be incompatible with the values that are the starting point of the text (Beckman, 2005, p. 73). Internal criticism overlaps with the first criterion of logical validity as it is based on a logical assessment.

External criticism of ideas means that the starting point is different from the ideas and values in the text. Now the question is how the arguments in the text measure up to the normative requirements that are decided upon in the external criticism (Beckman, 2005, p. 75). This is mainly how the criteria in this report should be seen – an external criticism or assessment – with the important difference that it is an assessment of the deliberation and not the conclusions. The normatively reasonable criterion can be seen as evaluating that the recommendations are appropriately informed by relevant reasons (Mansbridge & Parkinson, 2012, p. 11).

Normative reasonableness is going to be specified by dividing the criterion into three: degree of clarification, clarity about uncertainties and assumptions and degree of justification. This division is not based on what Beckman (2005) writes but on my own specification that draws inspiration from the literature on moral expertise and the role of ethics committees. The specification is done to fit with the goal of these criteria, which is not to assess whether the committee makes correct judgments, but to evaluate epistemic qualities of deliberation. Normative reasonableness does not include an assessment of moral truth, but formal features of deliberation.

Degree of clarification

That experts can help clarify the terms of the debate and therefore encourage a more informed debate on the issues seems to be a widely agreed upon fact, even across the different views on moral expertise (see for example Crosthwaite, 1995; Engelhardt Jr., 2011; Kliegman & Mahowald, 1986; Lillehammer, 2004; Wolff, 2011). This clarification includes two things: firstly, a relevant description of the status quo, and, secondly, a presentation of relevant ethical viewpoints and arguments for and against these.

The first requirement is that there is a relevant description of what the situation is when the committee starts its work (Wolff, 2011, pp. 196–197). The reason for why the committee is working on a specific issue is often due to technological advances that brings with them new ethical issues. A relevant description could here be to describe what makes this issue acute and how similar issues have been dealt with. If the committee is discussing a moral problem that is not new, then describing the current practice and the reasons for this practice might be relevant. Describing the status quo can be termed *conceptual analysis*. It is important to get rid of confusion and misunderstandings so that what is being discussed is clear (Swift, 2004, pp. 140–141). It is only after it is made clear what is at stake that the correct solution can be decided upon.

The second requirement is a description of the relevant ethical viewpoints and arguments for and against these. This description should clarify what the disagreements are on the issue. In other words, what is at stake and what the trade-offs that have to be made are (Wolff, 2011, p. 167). The disagreements should be related to ethical theory, to make clear what assumptions and which beliefs

underlie the different ways of reasoning. By doing this the committee will show an appreciation for the range of possible views.

Both these requirements are formulated using the term relevance. Assessing relevance can be tricky as it is inherently ambiguous and open for evaluation. Following Evert Vedung (1982), relevance can roughly be understood as implying that the descriptions "should be important and substantively pertinent to the matter at hand" (p. 139). Moreover, he offers two sub-rules. The first sub-rule is that whatever is said must be relevant to the topic. This means that irrelevant information should not be included. The second sub-rule is that relevant aspects of the subject should be acknowledged and presented. A committee can therefore be criticized both for including information that is irrelevant and for excluding information that should have been included.

When assessing the degree of clarification, the opposite of epistemic asymmetry – epistemic symmetry – might become a challenge. Information that might seem obvious to an expert might not be viewed in the same way by a layperson. As long as these committee reports have the people at large as their audience, epistemic symmetry might be a difficulty for an expert assessing a report.

Clarity about uncertainties and assumptions

Making clear uncertainties and assumptions in both reasoning and recommendations should be a basic requirement for an ethics committee. It is a natural part of being an expert to be aware of what is not known, and what the committee lacks expertise in. Being an expert includes knowledge about the certainty of knowledge claims. This is important because there is clear evidence "that both experts and laypeople are systematically over confident when making judgments about, or in the presence of, uncertainty" (Granger & Carnegie, 2011, p. 709). Further, Geir Kirkebøen (2009, p. 182) writes in the context of project planning that "no bias in judgment and decision-making is more prevalent, and more potentially catastrophic, than overconfidence". The strength with which beliefs are held is not a clear guide to whether these beliefs are right or wrong (Wolff, 2011, p. 190). In the realm of ethics, choosing one solution rather than another to an ethical question can have farreaching consequences. The only way to remedy this risk of overconfidence is to be clear about what uncertainties and

assumptions the recommendations are based upon, so as to give recommendations based on the best available evidence. Cathrine Holst (2015, pp. 363–364) has described this as a mechanism called epistemic restraint. Only if the ethics committees provide the politicians with the information required in this criterion can politicians make their decisions with full awareness of the uncertainties involved and bear the responsibility of their office (Douglas, 2009, p. 155).

When a committee writes about empirical questions it is important to be clear about any uncertainties related to the research. They should be clear about what is not yet known and where additional research might be needed. Moreover, the committee should be clear about any areas of knowledge where their competence is limited. Making the judgments that an ethics committee should involves an assessment of the sufficiency of evidence to warrant a claim. This is especially important because if a non-expert reads a report, it is difficult to know if the committee has only focused on evidence that supports their claim and excluded important evidence to the contrary (Douglas, 2009, p. 151).

Different types of claims have different certainty of truth. Normative claims are less certain than descriptive claims. Therefore, it is even more important for ethics committees to be clear about uncertainties and assumptions. Normative claims often rely on descriptive claims, so that these two cannot always be clearly separated. As well as including the requirements described in the paragraph above, the committee should either show, or it should be clear, what the empirical evidence or normative claims that could lead the committee to an altered opinion are. Ethics committees will often be asked to give recommendations on ethical questions that have emerged due to the uses of new technology. In this instance, where the epistemic uncertainty is likely to be high, it is especially important to be clear about uncertainties and assumptions — because there is much uncertainty.

Degree of justification

The recommendations given by the committee should also be well reasoned. In ethics, the reasoning for a point of view can be just as, if not more, interesting as the conclusions drawn. This is because ethicists often are concerned with developing ethical theory that can

be applied on different ethical issues. The complete absence of reasons for an ethics committee's recommendation is problematic. This is because experts should ensure that decisions are appropriately informed by logic, facts and relevant reasons (Mansbridge & Parkinson, 2012, p. 11). Justifying the reasons behind their recommendations is thus required.

It is important to require a high degree of justification. Even if we agree about the considerations that are relevant in a case, we can still disagree about their weight and therefore arrive at different conclusions. Moreover, it is reasonable to have more confidence in a recommendation that is well reasoned. The reasoning can also influence how other ethical questions are met, or how the same ethical questions are handled in the future. If the conclusions are based on a cost-benefit analysis, then the answer to the ethical question will change if the calculation changes. However, if absolute principles are given, then the ethical assessment would change under different circumstances. Most importantly, it is reasonable to believe that the high quality of deliberation and justification increases the likelihood of moral truth.

A committee should not be expected to comment or relate to all opinions no matter how outlandish or uncommon they are. Therefore, this criterion can be assessed by reference to common views, the use of texts that give an overview of the ethical field, and literature that the committee itself references.

How the criteria relate to the institutional context of the EGE

The European Group on Ethics in Science and New Technologies (EGE) is subject to a mandate and regulations on expert groups from the Commission. Moreover, they have their own rules of procedure. This institutional context has to be taken into account before the criteria are applied to the EGE. By looking at these regulations it can be determined whether the criteria have to be delimited. This is because it cannot be expected of the EGE to fulfil criteria that contradict the regulations that it works within.

The European Commission regulations regard many aspects of governance. The relevant documents from the Commission on expert groups are European Commission, 2001, 2002a, 2002b, 2009, 2010a,

2010b, 2014. Regarding the EGE, the mandate 2005–2009 (European Commission, 2005a) the appointment of members (European Commission, 2005b) and the EGE's rules of procedure (EGE, 2005) are the relevant documents.

In what follows, the relevant aspects will be presented and quoted at some length. The Commission writes:

Scientific and other experts play an increasingly significant role in preparing and monitoring decisions...the advent of biotechnologies is highlighting the unprecedented moral and ethical issues thrown up by technology. This underlines the need for a wide range of disciplines and experience beyond the purely scientific.

(European Commission, 2001, p. 15)

This forms the background to the Commission providing guidelines on the collection and use of expert advice, published in 2002 and developed thereafter, to "provide for the accountability, plurality and integrity of the expertise used" (European Commission, 2001, p. 16).

The guidelines are not very specific, but describe areas that are of concern to the Commission. Quality, openness and effectiveness are the three core principles that underpin the collection and use of expert advice by the Commission (European Commission, 2002a, pp. 9-10). The main concern of the Commission is not epistemic, but the guidelines do mention epistemic concerns, and this is what is relevant here. For example, they write that "good consultation serves...to improve the quality of the policy outcome" (European Commission, 2002b, p. 5). Concerning evidence, they highlight that expertise includes "stating what is unknown, or uncertain" (European Commission, 2002a, p. 12). Moreover, "Departments should insist that experts clearly highlight the evidence (e.g. sources, references) upon which they base their advice, as well as any persisting uncertainty and divergent views" (European Commission, 2002a, p. 12). Concerning the range of views, the Commission writes: "Both mainstream and divergent views should be considered" (European Commission, 2002a, p. 12). The experts should also be accountable and they should "be prepared to justify their advice by explaining the evidence and reasoning upon which it is based" (European Commission, 2002a, p. 10). The reports should be written

so that "both the issues and the advice received should be made understandable to non-specialists" (European Commission, 2002a, p. 9).

The quotes above show the epistemic concerns that are included in the Commission regulations. The mandate or the rule of procedure does not include any epistemic concerns. The Commission regulations underline the importance of highlighting uncertainties, that a range of views should be taken into account, giving good reasons for their advice and that the issue and advice should be made understandable to non-specialists. Nothing here contradicts the criteria that have been developed. Rather, they show that the requirements the EGE are under from the Commission regulations overlap to a great degree with the expectations from the criteria. The criteria do go further and are more specific on what is expected than the Commission regulations. The criteria do not, therefore, have to be delimited in any way before they are applied to the EGE's Opinion number 23.

Summing up

The table 3.1 gives a schematic overview of the criteria and how they have been specified. In this chapter, Beckman's (2005) three overall concerns for evaluating ideas; logical validity, empirical soundness and normative reasonableness have been specified to be applicable to deliberations in ethics committees' reports. These criteria will be applied to EGE's Opinion number 23 in the next chapter.

Table 3.1: Overview of the criteria

Criterion	Specification	Further specification	
Logically valid	Non-contradiction	1)	Contrary
		2)	Adversarial
	Valid inferences	3)	Naturalistic fallacy
		4)	Wishful thinking
Empirically sound	Wrongful empirical claims	1)	Evidence for claims are correct or not
Normatively reasonable	Degree of clarification	1)	Relevant description of status quo
		2)	Description of relevant ethical viewpoints and arguments for and against these
	Clarity about uncertainties and assumptions	1)	Empirical questions: Make clear uncertainties in the research, what is not yet known, additional research is required, competence is limited
		2)	Value-questions: make clear assumptions and uncertainty underlying arguments
	Degree of justification	1)	Well-argued justifications for recommendations

Chapter 4

Analysis

In this chapter the criteria developed in Chapter 3 will be applied to EGE's Opinion number 23 on Ethical aspects of animal cloning for food supply. The chapter starts with an introduction and description of the Opinion. During the assessment of the Opinion I found that there was not that much to note concerning the first two criteria. Therefore, the assessment begins with a section which describes the results from the analysis to see if the recommendations were logically valid. Following that, the results of the analysis of the recommendations to see whether they were empirically sound is described. The results are presented in this way to avoid being too pedantic when there is not too much to comment on. After these two sections, the recommendations are analyzed to determine whether they are The Opinion normatively reasonable. includes thirteen recommendations of which four are recommendations if food products derived from animal clones were introduced to the European market. These last four are not assessed as they overlap to a great degree with other recommendations that are made. Therefore, only a total of nine recommendations are assessed. These recommendations are assessed in chronological order as they are presented in the Opinion.

As only the recommendations are being assessed, the evaluation of relevance only applies to the recommendations that are in the Opinion. The EGE might have excluded or discussed other possible recommendations, but this is not assessed. The chapter ends by summing up and a table with an overview of the findings.

Opinion number 23

In February 2007, the President of European Commission, José Manuel Barroso asked the EGE to issue an Opinion on ethical implications of cloning animals for food supply. At the same time the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) was also asked to issue a scientific Opinion on the matter. The request from the Commission followed the announcement in December 2006 by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) concerning the possible authorization of food products derived from cloned cattle, pigs and goats into the market. The EFSA adopted their Opinion on 15 July 2008; about six months after the EGE issued theirs. Therefore, the scientific evidence that the EGE draws upon is the draft report from the EFSA which was released the day before the EGE's final Opinion on 16 January 2008.

The EFSA and the EGE have different domains of expertise. As they write in their reports: "The ethical aspects of cloning are outside the remit of EFSA" (EFSA 2008, p. 7). Similarly, the EGE write that they have "neither the competence nor the authority to assess risks related to food safety" (EGE, 2008, p. 40). The EGE's Opinion is therefore concerned with ethical issues connected with animal cloning for food supply. Other limitations to keep in mind when assessing the Opinion from the EGE is that, as was described above the Opinion was adopted before the final Opinion from the EFSA. It took a year from the Commission requesting the Opinion from the EGE until it was adopted.

Opinion number 23 is an ethical assessment about animal cloning for food supply. Cloning involves creating a new organism or cell that has an identical genetic make-up to the original organism. In agriculture, the cloning of animals could be useful to create animals with desired characteristics. Moreover, clones can be used for breeding. Clone progeny is the term used to describe the offspring where at least one of the parents is a clone and that was created by sexual reproduction.

The Opinion is divided into five sections. The first section includes an abstract, a resolution and a preamble. The second section includes the scientific background to animal cloning. Here the terms are defined, the historical background is described, animal health and welfare concerns are discussed, long-term future applications of animal

cloning are touched upon and animal cloning at the international level is presented. The third section concerns the legal aspects. This includes an overview of existing EU regulations, national legislation in the member states, World Trade Organization (WTO) agreements and intellectual property regulations. The fourth section is about the ethical issues with animal cloning. Interestingly, this chapter is only five pages long. It includes a description of different views of the moral status of animals, concerns about sustainability and animal farming, religious considerations, public perception and public acceptance, and, finally, discussion about consumers' right to know if the food products that are bought are from cloned animals or not. The final section includes the thirteen different recommendations along with sections that sum up and give the background for the recommendations. The EGE's main recommendation is that production of food from clones and their offspring is not ethically justified. This main recommendation was dissented by one member of the Group. 13 Following the main recommendation, the EGE presents four recommendations if, in the future, these food products are allowed on the European food market. In addition, the EGE made eight recommendations on different aspects related to the issue of animal cloning for food supply.

The scope of the Opinion is presented by the EGE in this way:

Complements and updates the previous one and is intended to be complementary to that of the EFSA. The ethical considerations in this Opinion will therefore refer to the use of animal cloning in breeding establishments in order to produce progeny that could enter the food chain.

(EGE, 2008, p. 5)

The earlier Opinion that is referred to it is Opinion number 9 on *Ethical aspects of cloning techniques* from 1997. Moreover, the EGE (2008) writes this about the need for revision of the Opinion: "Since further research is needed and cloning technologies are constantly improving, this Opinion could be reconsidered, and possibly revised, in the light of new scientific data and societal considerations" (p. 47).

¹³ The dissention was due primarily to the view that the free choice of consumers was violated by a ban on food products from animal cloning (EGE, 2008, p. 49).

Logically valid

To fulfil the criterion of logical validity the EGE must not make recommendations that are contradictory or make inferences that are invalid. One example will be shown here to show how the analysis has been conducted. The main recommendation is that the "the EGE does not see convincing arguments to justify the production of food from clones and their offspring" (EGE, 2008, p. 45). The premise for this recommendation is that the current level of animal suffering related to cloning is bad and that it cannot be justified because of this. This recommendation is logically valid as the premise is in line with the recommendation.

After analyzing all the recommendations, the conclusion is that all of the recommendations are logically valid. They are neither contrary, adversarial, naturalistic fallacies or based on wishful thinking.

Empirically sound

The criterion empirical soundness assesses whether the EGE made wrongful empirical claims. The overall picture is that the empirical evidence is sound, but with some notable deficiencies. Related to evaluating the recommendations based on their empirical soundness it is also relevant to look at the quality of the sources that are used, if the evidence is correct or not, whether it gives a correct picture of the existing knowledge in the field and if there is a lack of evidence to support claims. Moreover, the way the evidence is presented is also important to assess. Parts of this assessment overlap to a certain degree with the specification of normative reasonableness into clarity about uncertainties and assumptions.

In general, many of the recommendations are based on scientific evidence from the EFSA. This is regarded as a reliable source of information. The EGE (2008) acknowledges that the main recommendation builds on the draft Opinion from the EFSA and that the final "EFSA Opinion will provide a more detailed analysis of the animal health implications of SCNT based upon the actually available data" (p. 12).

Although they are not strictly wrongful empirical claims, two examples that still deserve mention follow. Firstly, the EGE (2008) recommends that "the Commission should take initiatives to prepare a Code of Conduct on responsible farm animal breeding, including

animal cloning" (p. 46). The arguments for why a Code of Conduct is necessary are lacking. The EGE considers neither other possibilities or explains what a Code of Conduct is and how it would meet animal welfare concerns. Whether the recommendations should be considered empirically sound is not obvious, because there is a lack of empirical evidence in the Opinion.

Secondly, according to the EGE (2008) public debates should be promoted on the use of animal cloning and its potential implications because "at present time it seems that the public is not fully informed about the uses and implications of cloning" (p. 36). This last statement is not supported by any references or elaborated as to what is meant by not fully informed. These types of statements, which are difficult to assess because they are not clearly defined or explained, are a general difficulty in the Opinion. In the case of promoting public debate it is necessary to specify what is meant by an informed public.

It is revealed, however, that the use of references in the Opinion is not very satisfactory, and falls short of what we should expect from moral experts. It is the most serious lack of empirical soundness in the EGE Opinion. The main problem with the use of references is that many of them are incomplete. Furthermore, the referencing is not consistent and some of the references cannot be considered reliable sources. Footnotes are the main way of referencing in the Opinion. However, in certain places the references are given as in-text citations. For example, one place the reference is given as "(see Revel, 2000:43-59)" (EGE, 2008, p. 10). This is problematic because there is no list of references included in the Opinion and it is therefore difficult to find the source they are referring to, as not enough information is given. In other places this is solved by giving a complete reference in the footnote. References to webpages are throughout given with the URL only. Most referencing styles require author, year, title, date of access and URL. Webpages might be moved or removed and therefore more information than just the URL should be included, especially if there is reason to believe that the source material will change over time. Another issue is the type of webpages that the EGE references. For some content it is clear that other references should have been used. For example, a reference to the Green Party in Canada is used when the EGE (2008, p. 17) writes that cloning may have a negative impact on adaptive mechanisms.

The website is no longer accessible, but there is no reason that the Green Party should be the most reliable source for this information. Another example, which is not as blameworthy, is a reference to some statistics from a FAO report, and instead of referencing the report itself the EGE (2008, p. 34) cites a news article on the FAO webpage describing the report. One last example is that under subsection 2.5.1 Animal health the EGE (2008, p. 11) describes statistics concerning cloned animals' health, but does not give any information as to where the data is taken from.

In sum, it has not been found that the EGE has presented outright wrongful empirical claims. However, it is clear from the examples above that this does not mean that the Opinion has fully met the criterion. As experts, the Group should clearly define what terms mean, use reliable sources and reference these in a coherent and verifiable way.

Normatively reasonable

The recommendations are assessed in order to determine if they are normatively reasonable. The recommendations are first presented. Thereafter, the normative reasonableness is assessed. This criterion has been specified to include the degree of clarification, clarity about uncertainties and assumptions and degree of justification.

Main recommendation

The EGE's (2008) main recommendation is that "At present, the EGE does not see convincing arguments to justify the production of food from clones and their offspring" (p. 45), and

Considering the current level of suffering and health problems of surrogate dams and animal clones, the EGE has doubts as to whether cloning animals for food supply is ethically justified. Whether this applies also to the progeny is open to further scientific research.

This is the main recommendation and it is reasonable to read the Opinion as leading up to this conclusion. However, as will be made clear later in the chapter there are different sub-sections dealing with the different recommendations. Concerning the main recommendation, the most important sub-sections are four. *Ethical issues*, 4.1 The moral status of animals, 4.3 Religious considerations, 5.2

Arguments on animal cloning for food and certain sub-sections in the section on scientific background to animal cloning, especially 2.5 Animal health and welfare problems related to cloning, 2.6 Potential applications of animal cloning for the food supply and 2.7 Long-term future applications of animal cloning.

The introduction to Section 4 on ethical issues presents a table divided into four different concerns: concerns for the cloned animals, concerns for humans, concerns for the environment and concerns for the society. They note that some do not believe that animals have moral status and therefore can be used for instrumental purposes by humans. Under sub-section 4.1 the EGE presents different views of the moral status of animals dividing the different theories into arguments based on, (a) the ability to feel pleasure and pain, (b) subjects-of-a-life, and (c) an element of biodiversity. Sub-section 4.3 lays out in one short paragraph the different views of animals in Western and Eastern cultures. Sub-section 5.2 presents arguments for and against animal cloning for food. The major arguments for are economic ones, and the arguments against are human health and safety, animal health and welfare, animal integrity, biodiversity, the risk of epidemics, social and economic effects on rural areas, and agricultural trade. Sub-section 2.5 deals with animal health and welfare problems related to cloning. The EGE presents statistics for animal health and describes abnormalities correlated with cloning. Under sub-section 2.6 the EGE writes that the main application for animal cloning for food production today is the propagation of a desirable genotype which works faster than through standard mating schemes. Sub-section 2.7 describes the long-term application that is cloning combined with genetic modifications.

The EGE has a relevant description of the status quo, both with a legal and a scientific overview. What is more lacking is a more thorough presentation of ethical viewpoints and arguments for and against these. Different ethical viewpoints are presented, but mostly briefly by using one or a couple of sentences on them. For example, under sub-section 4.1 concerning the moral status of animals they write that "another theory advocates that animals have a moral value in themselves as 'subjects-of-life' (intrinsic value argument) and states that both human and non-human beings are (analogously) moral entities because of their sentient capacities" (EGE, 2008, p. 33). Arguments are not presented for or against the different views on the

moral status of animals. Neither, is it explained how this relates to the final recommendation. What is at stake is not made entirely clear.

The empirical uncertainties are made clear. They mention what is not yet known, in that additional research is required and that their competence is limited and that the EFSA has the responsibility for the scientific advice. By recommending further research the EGE is also clear about the uncertainties relating to knowledge about animal cloning for food supply. Moreover, the EGE (2008) show an appreciation for the uncertainties by writing in their main recommendation that "whether this applies also to the offspring is open to further scientific research" (p. 45) and qualifying this with "at present" (p. 45). This implies that in light of new evidence the recommendation could change. The assumptions related to value judgments that the argument is built on are however not made clear. It seems that the EGE takes a consequentialist view on this and that the recommendations build on a cost-benefit analysis where the amount of animal suffering outweighs the possible benefits of animal cloning for food supply. This could explain why these different uses of animal cloning for food supply and for research are assessed differently, and also why the recommendation starts with at present.

The degree of justification is not high. After reading the whole Opinion it is not clear what the final recommendation is going to be before actually reading it. Mostly, different views are mentioned, but the EGE does not take a stand on them or mention how they view them. Therefore, it is not clear how the different considerations are weighed. The EGE (2008) writes that the use of animal cloning for biomedical purposes and for sources of organs for transplantation "entails completely different aspects that need to be considered from the legal and ethical points of view" (p. 15). However, they do not give reasons why these different uses entail completely different aspects. In fact, a common view is to see these two different uses of animal cloning as meeting similar ethical issues. In an earlier Opinion from the EGE, then as the Group of Advisers on Ethical Implications of Biotechnology (1997) they argue that animal cloning for research purposes should be allowed. It would be interesting to know why these two things are evaluated differently. It might have something to do with public perception, but it is difficult to know when this is not made explicit. Paul Thompson (1999, p. 207) writes that: "If current practices of euthanasia, slaughter and artificial insemination are

acceptable in research and food production, then the use of these practices to develop cloned animals should be acceptable". What is missing is an explanation from the EGE for the morally relevant differences between these two cases.

Animal welfare

The recommendation from the EGE on this point is the following:

Further studies and analyses on long-term animal welfare and health implications for clones and their offspring, as well as more comparative analyses with other assisted and traditional reproductive technologies in animal farming, should be carried out for a proper assessment of this issue, in line with the EFSA draft opinion. The Commission should take initiatives to prepare a Code of Conduct on responsible farm animal breeding, including animal cloning.

(EGE, 2008, p. 46)

The background for this recommendation is given in sub-sections 2.5 Animal health and welfare problems related to cloning and 5.4 Animal welfare and health.

Under sub-section 2.5 the health and welfare issues of cloned animals is described based on the current research. Concerning this recommendation, the EGE (2008) write that "the available data, however, are still limited to allow at present any definitive conclusions" (p. 11) and "the EFSA draft Opinion provides detailed analysis of the animal welfare implications of SCNT based on the actually available data" (p. 12). Under sub-section 5.4 the EGE (2008) write that "having regard to information provided by EFSA, the Group has noted a lack of data on the long-term animal welfare and health implications of clones and their offspring" (p. 41) and "the Group is concerned that intensive breeding techniques may adversely affect animal welfare and feels that a review of current practices should be conducted at European level" (p. 41). The EGE therefore recommends both further research and preparation of a Code of Conduct.

The degree of clarification is considered high on the first part of the recommendation as the EGE presents the relevant knowledge in the field and what is not yet known. However, what a Code of Conduct

is and why it is necessary is not clarified. This was also mentioned under the section on empirical soundness, and that is because these two requirements overlap to a certain degree. The difference is that under empirical soundness it was included because there was a lack of evidence for the claim, now it is included because nothing is written about how a Code of Conduct is and therefore it is not clarified and there is no description of the status quo. Neither is it described why there is reason to be concerned about intensive breeding techniques. It does not seem necessary to present different ethical views on a suggestion of further research and preparation of a Code of Conduct.

The uncertainties related to why further research is needed are made clear. However, what the concern of intensive breeding techniques is grounded in is not written. It is just noted. The uncertainties and assumptions related to the first part of the recommendation are therefore considered satisfactory, but not the second part of the recommendation.

The same is true then for the justification. It is clear why further studies are needed, but not why a Code of Conduct is correct.

Farm animal biodiversity and sustainability

The recommendation from the EGE (2008) on this point is the following: "The Commission should take proper measures to preserve the genetic heritage of farm animal species, for example by funding projects designed to preserve domesticated breeds in Europe and to promote sustainable agriculture" (p. 46). The background for this recommendation is given under sub-sections 2.9 Biodiversity, epidemics, 4.2 Sustainability and animal farming and 5.5 Farm animal biodiversity and sustainability.

Under sub-section 2.9 the EGE presents the concern that cloning might have a negative impact on adaptive mechanisms and that the loss of adaptive mechanisms might lead to epidemics. They also present counterarguments that cloning is limited so it will not have any effect, and that cloning can be used to breed animals resistant to diseases or specific environments. Under sub-section 4.2 a description of ownership of farming properties between several countries and the EU is followed by the number of cattle breeds and which countries are likely to initially use animal cloning for food supply. Further, they

argue that sustainable farming is an important consideration in the discussion on ethics of animal cloning. Lastly, they mention the concern that animal cloning will open the door for human cloning. Under sub-section 5.5 the EGE raises several issues concerning cloning of animals; it could make it easier to maintain certain rare animals, it can reduce diversity creating inbreeding problems and global epidemics. Lastly, they mention that they are concerned about the impact of increasing meat consumption on the environment. The examples of ways to meet the genetic heritage issue are not assessed.

Although the degree of clarification could have been higher, the EGE presents the issue and includes arguments for and against. However, the description does include much that seems irrelevant. They mention things that do not seem to add anything and that are not discussed or explained. It is difficult to know whether these things carry any weight in the reasoning that the EGE presents. For example, under sub-section 5.5 the EGE (2008) writes that "the Group is concerned about the global impact of increasing meat consumption on the environment as cloning of farm animals could be another step towards increasing such impact" (p. 42). This is not mentioned anywhere else, and it is unclear what it adds to the discussion. It is therefore a statement that seems irrelevant. However, one thing is the more technical issue concerning epidemics and disease; the ethical views on diversity are another matter. This is perhaps mentioned, but not more than that. For example, the writes:

Sustainable farming is indeed an important focal concept. It involves many dimensions, including human health, safety, animal welfare, environmental concerns, biodiversity and global justice. It does not contain or add anything that is not covered by these dimensions; it combines them.

(EGE, 2008, p. 35)

They only write that sustainable farming is important, but do not describe what these terms mean or what they imply. Therefore, the presentation of relevant ethical viewpoints is lacking.

The recommendation seems to rely on an assumption that the problem with a lack of genetic diversity is if it affects human food consumption. However, this is not made clear. It could be argued, depending on what view one has on the value of animals that

diversity in itself is important. It is not clear that the view that the EGE takes is the correct perspective because it is not argued for. Therefore, the clarification of uncertainties and assumptions is not made clear.

The justification for the conclusion is given under sub-section 5.5 and should be considered satisfactory. The EGE is concerned, among other things, to avoid global epidemics. However, the fact that artificial insemination is widespread and that this also challenges the genetic diversity of animals is an aspect that could have been mentioned by the EGE. In a sense, the genetic diversity debate concerning cloning can be seen as an extension of the debate on artificial insemination.

Public participation

The recommendation from the EGE on this point is the following:

Public debates should be promoted on the impact of farm animal cloning on agriculture and the environment, on the societal impact of increasing meat consumption and rearing of bovines, and on the fair distribution of food resources. The Commission should take a pro-active role in promoting public discussion on the use of animal cloning and its potential implications, by financing a number of *ad hoc* initiatives aimed at promoting public debate on the marketing of food products derived from animal cloning.

(EGE, 2008, p. 46)

The background for this recommendation is given under sub-sections 4.4 Public perception and public acceptance and 5.6.1 Public participation. Under sub-section 4.4 the EGE (2008) writes that "at present time it seems that the public is not fully informed about the uses and implications of cloning" (p. 36). Moreover, they present the project Cloning in public which has as one of its goals to stimulate debate on farm animal cloning. Under sub-section 5.6.1 the EGE (2008) argues that "it is of the utmost importance, in terms of global justice and environmental impact, that a debate be held concerning the issues underlying and accompanying this global development" (p. 42) and "in order to be able to exercise its freedom of choice, the public also needs to be adequately informed, and public debate should therefore be promoted" (p. 42).

The recommendation comes with a relevant description of the status quo. However, the EGE could have made clearer how their main recommendation in the Opinion relates to this public debate that they recommend. It is not clear what the role of the public debate is when the EGE has already recommended a solution to the ethical issue. Recommending more public debate was also given in an earlier Opinion from 1997 on *Ethical aspects of cloning techniques* (Group of Advisers on the Ethical Implications of Biotechnology, 1997, p. 7). The uncertainties related to the lack of knowledge are made clear. However, the different views regarding the importance of public debate are not made as clear.

The justification for the recommendation is that the public shall be able to exercise its freedom of choice and that it is important to hold a debate in terms of global justice and environmental impact. What the latter point means is rather unclear and it would have helped with a further specification. What the EGE does not touch upon is the role of public debate in a legitimate democratic decision on this issue (Lassen, Gjerris, & Sandøe, 2006, p. 1001). The way that the EGE presents this makes it unclear what the role of these public debates should be. Perhaps it is a goal in itself, but this is not stated or argued for. Another way to see it is that as long as the public is against animal cloning for food-supply it is illegitimate to introduce the technology. The argument is then that it is the foisting of the technology upon the public that is wrong, and not the technology itself (Thompson, 1999, p. 216). The clarity of uncertainties and assumptions and the degree of justification should therefore be considered unsatisfactory.

Public perception

The recommendation from the EGE on this point is the following:

The Commission should launch a thematic Eurobarometer survey and qualitative studies on animal cloning for food supply, in order to collect indicators on public perception concerning the introduction of such products to the food market as is being done in other countries.

(EGE, 2008, p. 46)

The background for this recommendation is given under sub-section 4.4 Public perception and public acceptance and 5.6.2 Public perception. A flash Eurobarometer on Europeans' attitudes toward animal cloning was published in October 2008.

Under sub-section 4.4 the EGE presents polling from the US on food products from cloned animals, and describes the knowledge that has been gained through earlier Eurobarometer surveys on this form of biotechnology. Moreover, they describe briefly the project entitled *Cloning in public*, a Commission supported project under the Sixth Framework Program. Under sub-section 5.6.2 the EGE (2008) acknowledges that there are different opinions on animal cloning for food supply and recommend a thematic Eurobarometer survey because "there are as yet no definitive indicators on the public perception of animal cloning for food supply and food products derived from cloned animals and their offspring" (p. 43). The recommendation of a Eurobarometer survey and qualitative studies is based on the claim that knowledge of the public perception of this issue is very limited.

The degree of clarification should be seen as satisfactory. The EGE (2008) writes that "according to available data, there is public acceptance for cloning as a research tool in biomedicine. [B]ut not for its application in agriculture". (p. 36) They could have added that based on this earlier research there is good reason to expect that the public is likely to meet animal cloning for food supply with scepticism (Lassen, 2005; Lassen et al., 2006). What the EGE is not clear about is why this further research is important. They are clear about the uncertainties related to the empirical questions, but not about why more research is necessary.

The only reason given for doing more research is the lack of knowledge. The EGE should also have reflected upon why this research is useful. The EGE (2008) writes that "public perception of animal cloning is likely to play a major role in its development and its commercial prospects" (pp. 35-36). However, reasons are not given for why this information is important for the EGE or the Commission and what, if anything, it should mean for policy. It is also interesting to note that while they write that "at the present time it seems that the public is not fully informed about the uses and implications of cloning" (p. 36) they do not reflect upon whether the survey will measure informed opinions or whether they will be gut reactions (Fiester, 2005, p. 329). As Habermas (2012, p. 126) writes: "That popular opinion established by opinion polls is not the same thing as the outcome of a public deliberative process leading to the formation of a democratic will". Or as Jesper Lassen et al. (2006, p. 996) writes: "As they acquire more information, people are better able to form an opinion for or against biotechnology - that is, there is a decrease in the number of 'do not know'". Further, it could also have been discussed what role public opinion should play in policymaking (Levitt, 2003). Perhaps the EGE believes that further research is a goal in itself. However, if this is the case, this should be argued for. The recommendation therefore has a low degree of justification.

Labeling

The recommendation from the EGE on this point is that:

The EGE is aware of the technical difficulties of labeling products from offspring; nevertheless it recommends that the Commission take the initiative in devising targeted procedures prior to the marketing of such food in the EU.

(EGE, 2008, p. 46)

The background for this recommendation is given under sub-sections 3.1.1 EU food regulation, 4. 5 The consumer's right to know, free choice and labeling and 5.7 Traceability and labeling.

Under sub-section 3.1.1 the EGE describes the current regulations concerning food in the EU and how it relates to food products from clones. Under sub-section 4.5 the EGE (2008) writes that "once food safety risks are ruled out, a possible concern would be a requirement for consumer information and product labeling" (p. 36). They then go

on to describe what this would entail and the difficulties involved. Under sub-section 5.7 the EGE (2008) describes issues that traceability and labeling raises and they claim "that consumer freedom can only be achieved when consumers have sufficient information to be able to choose the kind of products they want" (p. 43). The recommendation is based on the premise that consumer freedom is important. To ensure this freedom, the solution is to label products so that the consumers have sufficient information to make an informed decision.

The EGE has a relevant description of the status quo by describing the legal framework that is in place, what other labeling schemes are in place, and the difficulties of how and what to label. However, different ethical viewpoints on the need for labeling are not presented. For example, Thompson (1999, p. 197) argues "the market structure for products of cloned animals should protect individual choice, and should recognize that many individuals find the prospect of cloning (or consuming cloned animals) repugnant". This is similar to the view the EGE presents. However, one could also argue that it is not correct to entrust questions concerning ethics to the consumer alone. This argument could lead to the conclusion that labeling is not necessary; because these ethical issues are societal decisions not individual ones. This view is not mentioned by the EGE. Moreover, there are also questions concerning whether the cost associated with labeling are worth it. The costs and economic consequences of labeling may "outweigh the ethical significance of insuring informed consent" (Thompson, 1999, p. 215). That is a trade-off that is not clearly presented even though the EGE notes the technical difficulties of labeling. The importance of labeling can also be justified in different ways. For example, as a precondition for efficiency or with minority rights (Thompson, 1999, p. 214). In conclusion, the clarification of the issue is not satisfactory.

The EGE only describes the uncertainties when it comes to the technical difficulties of labeling. This is not sufficient, and other assumptions underlying the argument should have been made clear. This also means that the degree of justification is low.

Intellectual property issues

The recommendation from the EGE (2008) on this point is that: "Clarification should be provided as to whether the exclusion clauses in Directive 98/44/EC (Art. 6d) on patentability of biological

inventions and the EPO rules (23 d) apply to animal cloning for food supply" (p. 46). The background for this recommendation is given under sub-section 3.5 Intellectual Property (IP) regulation and 5.8 Intellectual property issues. Under sub-section 3.5 the legal framework surrounding whether animal cloning for food can be patented or not is presented. The EGE shows that the legal framework is not entirely clear. Under sub-section 5.8 the EGE gives this reason for the recommendation:

So far, patenting in animal cloning is limited to nuclear transfer techniques. The Group is concerned that patents might be extended to specific genes or to animals, and that this would lead to a monopoly/concentration of the resources that are important for breeding.

(EGE, 2008, p. 43)

The recommendation is then for clarification of the current legal framework.

The description of the status quo is sufficient as the current legal framework is explained and it is substantiated why this framework needs clarification. This recommendation is based on a concern for the consequences of patenting. However, different views on patenting are not presented. As this is the motivation behind the recommendation it is reasonable to expect that this is discussed more and that the positive and the negative sides of patenting are described. Instead the concern is just described in the sentence quoted above. Therefore, the presentation of relevant ethical viewpoints is not satisfactory.

The clarity about uncertainties and assumptions is also unsatisfactory. Why the legal clarification is needed is made clear, but not the assumptions behind the motivation for this. It might be that the EGE considers the viewpoint they have as so uncontroversial that is does not have to be properly justified. However, this leads to the conclusion that the degree of justification is also unsatisfactory.

Global trade and consumer freedom

The recommendation from the EGE on this point is that:

The EGE is aware that import issues in respect of food products derived from cloned animals, including compliance with World Trade Organization provisions, may complicate the market situation; however, the EGE recommends that the Commission take initiatives to ensure consumers' freedom and rights.

(EGE, 2008, pp. 46-47)

The background for this recommendation is given under sub-section 3.3 World Trade Organization (WTO), GATT and SPS agreements and 5.9 Global trade. Under sub-section 3.3 the relevant agreements and articles are presented. Under sub-section 5.9, the EGE presents the dilemma between free trade considerations and the ethical concerns regarding the cloning of animals. WTO agreements are based on strict requirements for restricting free trade, and "resolving this political dilemma is not easy" (EGE, 2008, p. 44). Further, the EGE points to examples where the EU has trade restrictions today. Finally, they note articles from the Agreement on the Application of Sanitary and Phytosanitary Measures (SPS Agreement) and agreement relating to risk assessment. It is not entirely clear from the recommendation as to whether the EGE is proposing that the Commission works toward a ban. However, elsewhere the EGE writes that:

The Group therefore considers that the import of cloned animals, their offspring and materials derived from cloned animals (e.g. semen and food products, as described in 3.1 and 3.3) should be conditional on the documentation as indicated in this Opinion, in particular with regard to traceability provisions and animal welfare.

(EGE, 2008, p. 44)

The EGE seems to argue that import has to be limited if conditions of traceability and animal welfare are not met.

The EGE has a relevant description of the status quo by both showing the political dilemma and the legal framework that exists. They acknowledge that it is a trade-off between free trade consideration

and ethical concerns regarding food products from cloned animals. This shows the relevant ethical viewpoints, but they should have been further elaborated.

By showing that the legal situation is not clear, the EGE shows the uncertainties related to the feasibility of ensuring the limits on trade. The EGE also shows the assumption that the argument is based on, namely that consumers' freedom and rights are more important than free trade.

The EGE shows clearly that it considers the ethical aspects of animal cloning for food as carrying more weight than free trade considerations. This is regarded as sufficient justification in this context.

Research

The last of the EGE's (2008) recommendations is that:

Further research is needed, in particular basic research into animal cloning, as well as the impact on human health, and animal welfare for farmed species other than those covered by EFSA. Similarly, further studies on the ethical, legal and social implications of animal cloning for food supply as well as qualitative studies on public perception should be carried out.

(EGE, 2008, p. 47)

The background for this recommendation is not given in one section of the Opinion but is based on the evidence that is presented overall.

The EGE is clear throughout the report that the recommendations are based on limited evidence and that further research is needed in the field. Through the use of the EFSA draft Opinion they underline this. The EGE (2008) describe the current scientific knowledge from the FDA and EFSA, and highlight that "to date, there has been no comprehensive scientific risk assessment at EU level on the use of products from cloned animals and their offspring" (p. 15). This provides a relevant description of the status quo for the first part of the recommendation. However, the second part lacks motivation. The EGE's (2008) Opinion must be seen as part of "further studies on the ethical, legal and social implications of animal cloning for food supply" (p. 47). It is unclear from the Opinion what is lacking in this research. The need for qualitative studies on public perception is

substantiated by the claim "there are as yet no definitive indicators on the public perception of animal cloning for food supply and food products derived from cloned animals and their offspring" (p. 43). This seems sufficient. A description of relevant ethical viewpoints does not seem necessary regarding the need for further research. However, the EGE could have been clearer as to why further research is important. The degree of clarification is therefore high on two points and low on one.

The recommendation concerning the need for further research seems to be based on the implicit assumption that further research will be positive. However, the only reason that is given for doing more research is the lack of knowledge. The EGE are clear about the uncertainties related to the empirical question, but not about why more research is necessary. The EGE does not specify to any great degree what this new information from further research will bring to the table. They should have reflected upon why this research is useful and important. For example, they show that not enough information concerning animal health issues exists, but do not discuss what types of evidence could have led to altered conclusions. By not being clear enough about what the main recommendation builds on, it is also difficult to know what new research is relevant for the EGE. This is a similar criticism as given under the section about labeling in Chapter 4. The recommendation therefore has a low degree of justification.

Summing up

The analysis has shown that the EGE fulfills the criterion logically valid. The Opinion is mostly empirically sound, but lacks empirical evidence in certain places. Moreover, statements are often not clearly defined and explained. However, the most serious mistake is the lackluster use of references.

The biggest weakness that was revealed through assessing the lack Opinion's recommendations was their of normative reasonableness. The general picture is that there is mostly a relevant description of the status quo. However, if different ethical viewpoints are presented at all they are just done so briefly and without much explanation or arguments for and against the different positions. This means that the EGE mostly does not make the necessary clarification to show the trade-offs that should be presented. Whether the EGE is clear about uncertainties and assumptions varies.

uncertainties related to the existing scientific knowledge in the field are presented in a good way. However, the assumptions underlying the ethical arguments from the EGE are seldom made clear. In fact, it is often difficult to see exactly what assumptions an argument builds on and obviously then also what uncertainties the EGE sees as related to these arguments. The degree of justification of the recommendation overall is low. Counterarguments are seldom presented, and arguments are stated rather than fully explained. This is below the standard of normative reasonableness that we should expect from such an ethics committee

We can observe that there is a connection between a relevant description of the status quo and the assessment of whether the EGE presents the uncertainties related to the empirical questions. If there is a relevant description of the status quo, then the uncertainties related to the empirical questions are usually also good. Different ethical viewpoints are seldom presented and this leads to the assumptions related to value-questions and the degree of justification to also be low. The one time, under section 4.4.8, where there is a somewhat relevant presentation of relevant ethical viewpoints, the EGE is also sufficiently clear about the uncertainties related to the value judgments and the justification for the recommendations.

The EGE does therefore only partly meet the epistemic criteria for assessing deliberations of moral experts on ethics committees.

Table 4.1: Overview of the main findings from the analysis

Criterion	Specification	Main findings
Logically valid	Non-contradiction Valid inferences	The EGE fulfills the criterion. None of the recommendations are based on contradictions, or invalid inferences.
Empirically sound	Wrongful empirical claims	The EGE does not make any wrongful empirical claims. However, the use of references, and sometimes the lack of references means that the criterion has not been fully met.
Normatively reasonable	Degree of clarification	The EGE mostly presents relevant descriptions of the status quo, but does not present different ethical viewpoints and arguments for and against these.
	Clarity about uncertainties and assumptions	Uncertainties related to empirical questions are mostly good. Related to value-questions, the EGE is mostly not clear about the uncertainties and assumptions.
	Degree of justification	The EGE's degree of justification is overall low. Views are most often stated and not explained. Counterarguments are seldom mentioned.

Chapter 5

Conclusion

In this chapter two things are done. Firstly, with the assessment of EGE's Opinion number 23 in mind, the relevance of the criteria developed in this report is discussed. Secondly, whether the findings from the analysis have policy implications is discussed and avenues for further research are pointed toward.

The relevance of the criteria

The starting point of this report was the recognition that through ethics committees, moral experts play an important role in giving advice to governments on ethical issues. The legitimacy of these committees is intimately connected to their members' performance as moral experts. It was therefore important to develop criteria to evaluate this performance. Based on Ludvig Beckman's (2005) three overall concerns for evaluating ideas; logical validity, empirical soundness and normative reasonableness, epistemic criteria were Logical validity was specified to include developed. contradiction and valid inferences. Empirical soundness was include wrongful empirical claims. specified to reasonableness was specified to include an evaluation of the degree of clarification, whether the committee was clear about uncertainties and assumptions and the degree of justification.

These criteria were applied to the EGE's Opinion number 23. The main findings were that the recommendations from the EGE were logically valid, but due to the poor use of sources and referencing the recommendations were lacking in empirical soundness. The

normative reasonableness was low overall. Views were most often stated and not explained. Counterarguments were seldom mentioned.

The research question specifies that the criteria should be relevant epistemic criteria for assessing deliberations of moral experts on ethics committees. Relevance implies that the criteria relate to moral experts on ethics committees in an appropriate way.

The criteria can be seen as placing too high expectations on the performance of ethics committees. If the criteria are considered unreasonable and unrealistic to meet in the format of a committee report, this is a challenge for the criteria's relevance. Among other things, to fulfill the criteria normative reasonableness, the report from a committee has to be of a certain length. Depending on the width of the topic and the scope of the question being discussed, a short committee report will most likely not do very well in such an assessment. This, I believe, does not make the criteria too demanding. It is rather a consequence of what we should expect of moral experts in this context.

Each criterion is now looked at in turn. Logical validity is an important criterion to include. The way this criterion has been specified, it only takes into consideration what can be viewed as the most important and most obvious issues. Another approach could be to include more aspects to allow for a broader assessment. However, it would be beyond the scope of any single study to evaluate all aspects of logic. The specification therefore necessarily has to be somewhat limited in order for the criterion to be useful, but further research might show that other concerns should be included besides the specifications in this report. The way that the criterion was specified here was based on the concerns put forward by Beckman (2005) and what other researchers found to be important concerns. Contrary to what might have been expected of the EGE based on the literature, this criterion was fulfilled. Further research could show whether there are other types of logical validity issues that should be included when studying ethics committees. This criterion can be applied with little knowledge of the subject at hand, but one needs a proficiency in logic.

Another issue regarding logical validity that was not part of the original criterion but which surfaced during the analysis is that the

recommendations that the EGE made did not follow with necessity from the claims that were made. How the main recommendation is presented can serve as an example. The recommendation from the EGE (2008) is "considering the current level of suffering and health problems of surrogate dams and animal clones, the Group has doubts as to whether cloning for food is justified" (p. 45). This argument can be simplified as, cloned animals suffer; therefore, animal cloning is not justified. In this argument is an implicit premise that animal suffering is bad. This same pattern of implicit premises can be seen in other recommendations as well. Expecting all premises to be made explicit and presented in the forms of syllogisms or in other ways would be to expect too much of logical validity from an ethics committee. Based on this evaluation it is right not to include this issue in the criterion. Whether implicit premises are problematic in a recommendation issue that the criterion is an normative reasonableness evaluates.

The second criterion, empirical soundness, was just specified as wrongful empirical claims. This criterion along with normative reasonableness has been the most difficult in terms of the epistemic asymmetry problem. Empirical soundness is an important criterion as correct empirical claims should be something we can expect of an expert committee supplying a background for policy decisions. The assessment did not strictly keep to evaluating wrongful empirical claims, because being empirically sound includes more than this. The criterion therefore should have been further specified so as to include the quality of the sources that are used, whether a correct picture of the existing knowledge in the field is presented, if there is a lack of evidence to support a claim, and how the evidence is presented. I did make this assessment explicit in the analysis, but it is not entirely clear from the way that the criterion is presented that this is included. This is mostly because I did not expect to meet this issue in the Opinion, and therefore did not believe that this specification would be necessary. However, for future research, I would recommend that empirical soundness is further specified to include the concerns mentioned above.

The normative reasonableness criterion is where we have found the most deficiencies in the EGE report. This is also the criterion that perhaps is most unique for ethics committees. The specification of the criterion gives room for subjectivity in the application of the criterion

as the words "degree", "clear about", "relevant" etc. have been used. This is important as what is necessary to include in order to be normatively reasonable depends on the issues and the centrality of a recommendation. We observed that whether the first specification of this criterion was fulfilled also increased the likelihood that the next two were fulfilled. This is also the criterion that has to be customized the most depending on the institutional context that the committee which is being evaluated operates within. The application of this criterion also accentuates the difficulties of the epistemic asymmetry problem.

In sum, the criteria have sought to be a deliberative standard for assessing epistemic aspects of ethics committees in light of concerns about democratic legitimacy. The goal has been to make these ideas empirically testable and in that way contribute to evaluating concrete expert institutions. Even if it cannot be said with certainty that the fulfillment of these criteria will lead to moral truth, it is likely that it will lead to better advice and in that way ensure its truth-sensitivity (Christiano, 2012, p. 36). These criteria can be used in further research to ascertain whether a committee fulfills the deliberative standards that we should expect from moral experts.

Policy implications and further research

Based on the findings in the analysis it is worth considering if any policy implications should be drawn. What measures should be taken to remedy the poor performance of the EGE depends on what the cause of the performance is.

One possible explanation is that the EGE consists of members with a low level of moral expertise. This explanation does not seem likely, however, as the credentials of the different members of the EGE do not point in this direction. Rather, something else might explain the poor performance.

Another possible explanation is institutional weakness. About a year passed from when the EGE was asked by the Commission to issue an Opinion on animal cloning for food supply until it was adopted. This should have been sufficient time in which to write a good Opinion. However, as the summary of activities of the EGE that year shows, they worked on more that year than just the Opinion on animal cloning. This could perhaps be part of the explanation. As noted on

the final page of the EGE's Opinion, the EGE secretariat consisted of three persons when the Opinion was published. This might have been too little secretarial assistance for the EGE and in that case a sign of institutional weakness. The poor design and editing of the Opinion might point in this direction. For example, in the text on both page 37 and 41, the EGE references a section of their own Opinion that does not exist. Moreover, on page 33 they have forgotten to remove a text saying "need quote". If compared with how EFSA Opinion is presented there is a quite striking difference. EFSA's Opinion looks much more professionally edited. Opinions from the EGE have varied in length over time. Earlier the Opinions were presented in the format of resolutions with very little reasoning behind the recommendations. There are good reasons to believe that these Opinions would have done poorly in an assessment. In 1997, the EGE, then named GAEIB, issued an Opinion on the ethical aspects of cloning techniques. This Opinion was seven pages long and Declan Butler (1997) writes that "the group has given few explanations of how it reached the conclusions" (p. 536). The EGE might have had and continue to have time-constraints and/or resource-constraints that makes it difficult to meet the expectations that we should have. An assessment could take this into account, and in some cases it might be unreasonable not to. However, if time- and resourceconstraints hamper the work of the committee then it is a sign of institutional weakness and is something the Commission should remedy.

A third explanation could be that the reason for the poor performance is that the committee was drawn between an obligation to moral truth and obligation to what was politically feasible. This idea has been expressed in the literature on ethics committees. For example, Dan Brock (1987, p. 787) writes that: "When philosophers move into the policy domain, they must shift their primary commitment from knowledge and truth to the policy consequences of what they do". Cathrine Holst and Silje Tørnblad (2015, p. 171) express this even more clearly: "Whereas the official institutional goal of science is to seek valid knowledge, 'truth' and 'objectivity', the ultimate goal of politics is to reach collectively binding decisions". An ethics committee is part of a democratic decision-making procedure and therefore has to be concerned with the legitimacy of the expert committee system. The view that moral truth is not the only requirement a governmental advisory committee needs to fulfill is

shared by many scholars (see for example Holst, 2015b; Swift & White, 2008; Wolff, 2011). These competing obligations can be described as the compromise between moral truth and political feasibility. In other words, one of the obligations of an ethics committee can be seen as a requirement to take into account how their proposals relate to the society that is here and now – in a society that is a long way from an ideal. Mariachiara Tallacchini has written:

The fact that the legitimation of bioethics has been primarily constructed with reference to academic philosophical norms and not to the norms of the public sphere partly explains why it has never gained the degree of public legitimacy that other forms of technocracies have gained.

(2009, p. 292)

It might be these two competing obligations that the EGE has tried to manage and therefore explains why they write their Opinion as they do. This was not taken into account in the analysis. However, the criterion normative reasonableness could have been applied in a stricter manner by requiring more references to ethical theory for example. Therefore, it might be that the analysis was conducted in a reasonable way even though the constraints of political feasibility were not part of the criteria. Regardless there are good reasons to have higher expectations of an ethics committee than what the EGE delivered.

Without actually conducting more research to find out which of these explanations are best it is difficult to know for sure. However, based on the findings it is reasonable to ask whether the EGE should be closed down. An ethics committee that does not fulfill the expectations that we should rightfully have of these experts is not much use. However, the committee can play other functions that explain why it is kept. For example, Busby et al. (2008, p. 835) argues that the EGE plays the role of broker between those that seek to enhance the regulatory environment for the development of new biotechnologies and those that are suspicious of such a development. The mandate of the EGE ran out in January 2016 and has not yet been extended. This might be a good opportunity to make some changes.

The Commission's regulations on expert groups underline the importance of highlighting uncertainties, a range of different views,

giving good reasons for their advice and that the issue and the advice should be made understandable to non-specialists. Based on the analysis that has been conducted on the EGE Opinion it is reasonable to say that the EGE probably does not fulfill the regulations from the Commission. Interestingly, there is no mention of any evaluation of performance or consequences for poor performance in the Commission's regulations. This should be addressed to ensure high quality advice from experts. The key is to find mechanisms that can contribute to holding experts accountable for the advice they give (Holst & Molander, 2014).

The main criticism that has been directed at the Commission's expert group system has been due to a lack of transparency (Moodie, 2016). Transparency has been a necessity for this study. However, the criteria go beyond this critique of transparency and looks at a different aspect of a committee's work; namely the epistemic. Based on the assessment of the EGE there are good reasons to believe that this should be given more attention both by scholars and by the Commission. The Commission should alter their regulations to take into account the epistemic quality of the advice that is given. The EGE was created in response to the democratic deficit in the European Union (Mohr et al., 2012, p. 105). If the EGE does not fulfill its role as moral experts, then this might point toward an illegitimate expert institution. If this holds true for a broader range of expert arrangements, then the epistemic justification of democracy does not hold.

This perspective is enhanced by the fact that the EGE and the other expert groups play an important role in governing. They have influence, at least by being an actor that has to be listened to. The Commission writes:

As a general rule, any proposal submitted by departments for Commission decision should be accompanied by a description of the expert advice considered, and how the proposal takes this into account. This includes cases where advice has not been followed. As far as possible, the same information should be made public when the Commission's proposal is formally adopted.

(European Commission, 2002a, pp. 12–13)

Normative reasonableness was the criterion the EGE was furthest from meeting, and is perhaps the most difficult criterion to meet. The lack of normative reasonableness in the EGE's Opinion can suggest that this should be a topic for further research to investigate. Moreover, there is reason to believe that the EGE is not the only ethics committee that has these kinds of issues. According to Kymlicka (1993, p. 3) "an entire issue of the Journal of Philosophy and *Medicine* is devoted to the critiques of the 'amateur' way which ethics are dealt with in these reports". If this criticism is true, then the legitimacy of the system of ethics committees should be questioned. If the committees are not delivering on what we should expect of them as moral experts, then the reason why the committees are there is undermined. To what degree this is the case should be a topic of further scholarship. At the same time, governments and committees should take action to ensure that experts deliver the expertise that they are expected to.

In sum, further research should be conducted on the EGE and other ethics committees to see whether the findings in this report are a general problem and, if so, then what the causes of this are. Only when the causes are known can the required measures be instated to remedy the problem.

- Archard, D. (2011). Why moral philosophers are not and should not be moral experts. *Bioethics*, 25(3), 119–127. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8519.2009.01748.x
- Beckman, L. (2005). *Grundbok i idéanalys: Det kritiska studiet av politiska texter och idéer*. Stockholm: Santérus Förlag.
- – (2006). Idékritik och statsvetenskapens nytta. Statsvetenskaplig tidskrift, 108(4), 331–342.
- Boehmer-Christiansen, S. (1995). Reflections on scientific advice and EC transboundary pollution policy. *Science and Public Policy*, 22(3), 195–203. doi:10.1093/spp/22.3.195
- Bohman, J. (2006). Institutional reform and democratic legitimacy: Deliberative democracy and the aims of transnational constitutionalism. In S. Besson & J. L. Marti (eds), *Deliberative democracy and its discontents*. Aldershot: Ashgate, pp. 215-231.
- Boswell, C. (2009). The political uses of expert knowledge: Immigration policy and social research. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Bratberg, Ø. (2014). *Tekstanalyse for samfunnsvitere*. Oslo: Cappelen Damm akademisk.
- Brennan, J. (2011). *The ethics of voting*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Brock, D. W. (1987). Truth or consequences: The role of philosophers in policy-making. *Ethics*, 97(4), 786–791. doi: 10.1086/292891
- Busby, H., Hervey, T. & Mohr, A. (2008). Ethical EU law? The influence of the European Group on Ethics in Science and New Technologies. *European Law Review*, 33(6), 803–842.

Butler, D. (1997). European ethics advisers back cloning ban. *Nature*, 387(6633), 536–536. doi:10.1038/42313

- Christiano, T. (2012). Rational deliberation among experts and citizens. In J. Parkinson & J. Mansbridge (eds), *Deliberative systems: Deliberative democracy at the large scale*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 27-51.
- Cohen, C. B. (ed.). (2005). The President's Council on Bioethics and approaches to public deliberation taken by national bioethics commissions [Special issue]. *Kennedy Institute of Ethics Journal*, 15(3), 219–322.
- Collins, H., & Evans, R. (2007). *Rethinking expertise*. Chicago, Ill: University of Chicago Press.
- Cowley, C. (2005). A new rejection of moral expertise. *Medicine, Health Care and Philosophy, 8*(3), 273–279. doi:10.1007/s11019-005-1588-x
- Crosthwaite, J. (1995). Moral expertise: A problem in the professional ethics of professional ethicists. *Bioethics*, 9(4), 361–379. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8519.1995.tb00312.x
- Dahl, R. A. (1989). *Democracy and its critics*. New Haven, Conn: Yale University Press.
- Dorsen, N. & Rosenfeld, M. (2009). Symposioum roundtable: An exchange with Jeremy Waldron [Special section]. *International Journal of Constitutional Law*, 7(1), 1–82. doi:10.1093/icon/mon038
- Douglas, H. (2009). *Science, policy, and the value-free ideal*. Pittsburgh, Pa: University of Pittsburgh Press.
- Eckenwiler, L. A. & Cohn, F. G. (eds) (2009). *The Ethics of bioethics: Mapping the moral landscape*. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Elster, J. (2007). Hva skal vi med etiske komiteer? *Etikk i praksis Nordic Journal of Applied Ethics*, 1(1), 11–31. doi:10.5324/eip.v1i1.1682
- Engelhardt Jr., H. T. (2011). Confronting moral pluralism in posttraditional Western societies: Bioethics critically reassessed. *Journal of Medicine and Philosophy*, 36(3), 243–260. doi: 10.1093/jmp/jhr011
- Estlund, D. M. (2008). *Democratic authority: A philosophical framework*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.

European Commission (2001). European Governance - A white paper, COM(2001) 428 final. Available at: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:52001DC0428 [accessed 29 August 2016].

- - (2002a). Communication from the Commission: Collection and Use of Expertise by the Commission: Principles and Guidelines "Improving the Knowledge Base for Better Policies", COM(2002) 713 final. Available at: http://ec.europa.eu/governance/docs/comm_expertise_en.pdf [accessed 29 August 2016].
- — (2005a). Commission Decision of 11 May 2005 on the renewal of the mandate of the European Group on Ethics in Science and New Technologies, (2005/383/EC). Official Journal of the European Union, 48(L127), 17–19. Available at: http://ec.europa.eu/archives/european_group_ethics/archive/2005_2010/mandate/docs/mandate2005_en.pdf [accessed 29 August 2016].
- — (2005b). Commission Decision of 19 October 2005 on the appointment of the members of the European Group on Ethics in Science and New Technologies for its third mandate (2005/754/EC). Official Journal of the European Union, 48(L284), 6–7. Available at: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/2uri=CELEX:32005D0754&qid=1462791851613&from=EN [accessed 29 August 2016].
- — (2010a). Communication from the President to the Commission: Framework for Commission Expert Groups: Horizontal Rules and Public Register, C(2010) 7649 final, 11 November 2010. Available at: http://ec.europa.eu/transparency/regexpert/PDF/ C 2010 EN.pdf [accessed 29 August 2016].

— — (2010b). Commission Staff Working Document Accompanying Document to the Communication from the President to the Commission - Framework for Commission Expert Groups: Horizontal Rules and Public Register, SEC(2010) 1360 final, 10 November 2010. Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/transparency/regdoc/rep/2/2010/EN/2-2010-1360-EN-F1-1-ANNEX-1.PDF [accessed 29 August 2016].

- — (2013). Proposal for a Directive of the European Parliament and of the Council on the cloning of animals of the bovine, porcine, ovine, caprine and equine species kept and reproduced for farming purposes, COM(2013) 892 final. Available at: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=COM:2013:0892: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=COM:2013:0892: http://europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=COM:2013:0892: http://europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/: http://eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/: http://eu/lega
- ——— (2016). The European Group on Ethics in Science and New Technologies (EGE). Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/research/ege/index.cfm [accessed 29 August 2016].
- — (n.d.). Register of Commission Expert Groups. Available at: http://ec.europa.eu/transparency/regexpert/index.cfm [accessed 29 August 2016].
- European Food Safety Authority (2008). Scientific opinion of the Scientific Committee Food Safety, Animal Health and Welfare and Environmental Impact of Animals derived from cloning by Somatic Cell Nucleus Transfer (SCNT) and their offspring and products obtained from those animals. *The EFSA Journal*, 767, 1–49. Avialable at: http://www.efsa.europa.eu/sites/default/files/scientific_output/files/main_documents/sc_op_ej767_animal_cloning_en.pdf [accessed 29 August 2016].
- European Group on Ethics in Science and New Technologies (2005). *Rules of procedure EGE 2005–2009*. Available at: http://ec.europa.eu/archives/european_group_ethics/archive/2005_2010/mandate/docs/rules2005_09_en.pdf [accessed 29 August 2016].

— — (2008). Ethical aspects of animal cloning for food supply. Available at: http://ec.europa.eu/archives/bepa/european-group-ethics/docs/publications/opinion23_en.pdf [accessed 29 August 2016].

- Fiester, A. (2005). Ethical issues in animal cloning. *Perspectives in Biology and Medicine*, 48(3), 328–343. doi: 10.1353/pbm.2005.0072
- Finnis, J. (1991). Natural law: 1:1. Aldershot: Dartmouth.
- Fischer, F. (2009). *Democracy and expertise: Reorienting policy inquiry*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Friberg-Fernros, H. & Schaffer, J. K. (forthcoming). Assessing the epistemic quality of democratic outcomes in terms of adequate support for conclusions.
- Goldman, A. I. (2001). Experts: Which ones should you trust? *Philosophy and Phenomenological Research*, 63(1), 85–110. doi: 10.1111/j.1933-1592.2001.tb00093.x
- Gornitzka, Å. & Holst, C. (2015a). The Expert-Executive Nexus in the EU: An introduction. *Politics and Governance*, 3(1), 1–12. doi: 0.17645/pag.v3i1.271
- Gornitzka, Å. & Holst, C. (eds) (2015b). The role of expert knowledge in EU executive institutions [Special issue]. *Politics and Governance*, 3(1), 1–178.
- Gornitzka, Å. & Sverdrup, U. (2008). Who consults? The configuration of expert groups in the European Union. *West European Politics*, 31(4), 725–750. doi: 10.1080/01402380801905991
- Granger, M. M. & Carnegie, M. (2011). Certainty, uncertainty, and climate change. *Climate Change*, 108, 707–721. doi: 10.1007/s10584-011-0184-8.
- Group of Advisers on the Ethical Implications of Biotechnology. (1997). Ethical aspects of cloning techniques. Available at: http://ec.europa.eu/archives/bepa/european-group-ethics/docs/opinion9_en.pdf [accessed 29 August 2016].
- Habermas, J. (1988). *Theory and practice* (J. Viertel, Trans.). Cambridge: Polity Press.
- — (2012). *The crisis of the European Union: A response*. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Hare, R. M. (1988). Why do applied ethics? In D. M. Rosenthal & F. Shehadi (eds), *Applied ethics and ethical theory*. Salt Lake City: University of Utah Press, pp. 71-83.
- Hellevik, O. (2002). *Forskningsmetode i sosiologi og statsvitenskap* (7th ed.). Oslo: Universitetsforlaget.

Hodges, W. (2001). Logic (2nd ed.). London: Penguin Books.

- Hoffmann, M. (2012). How to identify moral experts? An application of Goldman's criteria for expert identification to the domain of morality. *Analyse & Kritik: Zeitschrift für Sozialtheorie*, 34(2), 299–314. Available at: http://www.analyse-und-kritik.net/2012-2/AK_Hoffmann_2012.pdf [accessed 29 August 2016].
- Holst, C. (2012). What is epistocracy? In Simen Andersen Øyen, Tone Lund-Olsen, & N. S. Vaage (eds), *Sacred science? On science and its interrelations with religious worldviews*. Wageningen Academic Publishers, pp. 41-54. doi:10.3920/978-90-8686-752-3.
- — (2015a). Hva er galt med ekspertstyre? Norsk statsvitenskapelig tidsskrift, 30(04), 357-368. Available at: https://www.idunn.no/file/pdf/66816997/hva_er_galt_med_ekspertstyre.pdf [accessed 29 August 2016].
- — (2015b). Nancy Fraser i en norsk offentlig utredning. *Agora*, 32(02–03), 40-61. Available at: https://www.idunn.no/file/pdf/66827839/nancy_fraser_i_en_norsk_offentlig_utredning.pdf [accessed 29 August 2016].
- Holst, C. & Molander, A. (2014). Epistemic democracy and the accountability of experts. In C. Holst (ed.), *Expertise and democracy*. Oslo: ARENA Centre for European Studies, pp. 13-35.
- Holst, C. & Moodie, J. R. (2015). Cynical or deliberative? An analysis of the European Commission's public communication on its use of expertise in policy-making. *Politics and Governance*, 3(1), 37–48. doi:10.17645/pag.v3i1.240
- Holst, C. & Tørnblad, S. H. (2015). Variables and challenges in assessing EU experts' performance. *Politics and Governance*, 3(1), 166–178. doi:10.17645/pag.v3i1.124
- Jasanoff, S. (1997). Science at the Bar: Law, science, and technology in America. Cambridge, MA.: Harvard University Press.
- Jones, K. & Schroeter, F. (2012). Moral expertise. *Analyse & Kritik,* 34(2), 217–230. Available at: http://www.analyse-und-kritik.net/2012-2/AK_Jones_Schroeter_2012.pdf [accessed 29 August 2016].
- Kirkebøen, G. (2009). Decision behaviour Improving expert judgement. In T. M. Williams, K. Samset & K. J. Sunnevåg (eds), Making essential choices with scant information, front-end decision making in major projects. Houndmills Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan, pp. 169-194.
- Kitcher, P. (2011). Science in a democratic society. Amherst, NY: Prometheus Books.

Kliegman, R. M. & Mahowald, M. B. (1986). In our best interests: Experience and workings of an ethics review committee. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 108(2), 178–188. doi:10.1016/S0022-3476(86)80979-9

- Kymlicka, W. (1993). Moral philosophy and public policy: The case of NRTs. *Bioethics*, 7(1), 1–26. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8519.1993.tb00268.x
- Lassen, J. (2005). *Public perceptions of farm animal cloning in Europe*. Retrieved from Danish Centre for Bioethics and Risk Assessment: Available at: http://www.nbi.ku.dk/ansatte/?pure=files%2F91339268%2FCeBRA_Report_9.pdf [accessed 29 August 2016].
- Lassen, J., Gjerris, M. & Sandøe, P. (2006). After Dolly Ethical limits to the use of biotechnology on farm animals. *Theriogenology*, 65(5), 992–1004. doi:10.1016/j.theriogenology.2005.09.012
- Levitt, M. (2003). Public consultation in bioethics. What's the point of asking the public when they have neither scientific nor ethical expertise? *Health Care Analysis*, 11(1), 15–25. doi:10.1023/A:1025381828650.
- Lillehammer, H. (2004). Who needs bioethicists? *Studies in History and Philosophy of Biological and Biomedical Sciences*, 35(1), 131–144. doi: 10.1016/j.shpsc.2003.12.009
- Mansbridge, J. & Parkinson, J. (2012). *Deliberative systems: Deliberative democracy at the large scale*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- McGrath, S. (2008). Moral disagreement and moral expertise. In R. Shafer-Landau (ed.), *Oxford studies in metaethics Volume III*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 87-108.
- — (2011). Skepticism about moral expertise as a puzzle for moral realism. *The Journal of Philosophy*, 108(3), 111–137. doi: 10.5840/jphil201110837
- Metz, J. (2013). Expert groups in the European Union: A sui generis phenomenon? *Policy and Society*, 32(3), 267–278. doi:10.1016/j.polsoc.2013.07.007
- Miller, D. (2008). Political philosophy for earthlings. In D. Leopold & M. Stears (eds), *Political theory: Methods and approaches*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 29-48.

Mohr, A., Busby, H., Hervey, T. & Dingwall, R. (2012). Mapping the role of official bioethics advice in the governance of biotechnologies in the EU: The European Group on Ethics' Opinion on commercial cord blood banking. *Science and Public Policy*, 39(1), 105–117. doi:10.1093/scipol/scs003

- Moodie, J. R. (2016). Resistant to change? The European Commission and expert group reform. *West European Politics*, 39(2), 229–256. doi:10.1080/01402382.2015.1041824
- Moore, A. (2010). Public bioethics and deliberative democracy. *Political Studies*, 58(4), 715–730. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9248.2010. 00836.x.
- Moreno, J. D. (1988). Ethics by committee: The moral authority of consensus. *The Journal of Medicine and Philosophy*, 13(4), 411–432. doi:10.1093/jmp/13.4.411.
- — (1995). *Deciding together: Bioethics and moral consensus.* Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Nelson, J. L. (2005). The Baroness's Committee and the President's Council: Ambition and alienation in public bioethics. *Kennedy Institute of Ethics Journal*, 15(3), 251–267. doi:10.1353/ken.2005.0022.
- Plato (1994). Republic (R. Waterfield, Trans.). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Plomer, A. (2008). The European Group on Ethics: Law, politics and the limits of moral integration in Europe. *European Law Journal*, 14(6), 839–859. doi:10.1111/j.1468-0386.2008.00447.x.
- Rasmussen, L. (ed.) (2006). *Ethics expertise: History, contemporary perspectives, and applications*. Dordrecht: Springer.
- Rhinard, M. (2002). The democratic legitimacy of the European Union committee system. *Governance*, 15(2), 185–210. doi:10.1111/1468-0491.00185.
- Salter, B. & Jones, M. (2002). Regulating human genetics: The changing politics of biotechnology governance in the European Union. *Health, Risk & Society,* 4(3), 325–340. doi:10.1080/1369857021000016669.
- Singer, P. (1988). Ethical experts in a democracy. In D. M. Rosenthal & F. Shehadi (eds), *Applied ethics and ethical theory*. Salt Lake City: University of Utah Press, pp. 149-161.
- Steenbergen, M. R., Bächtiger, A., Spörndli, M. & Steiner, J. (2003). Measuring political deliberation: A discourse quality index. *Comparative European Politics*, 1(1), 21–48. doi: 10.1057/palgrave.cep.6110002.

Swift, A. (2004). Political philosophy and politics. In A. Leftwich (ed.), *What is politics?: The activity and its study.* Cambridge: Polity Press, pp. 135-146.

- Swift, A. & White, S. (2008). Political theory, social science, and real politics. In D. Leopold & M. Stears (eds), *Political theory: Methods and approaches*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 49-69.
- Tallacchini, M. (2009). Governing by values. EU ethics: Soft tool, hard effects. *Minerva*, 47(3), 281–306. doi:10.1007/s11024-009-9127-1.
- Tellmann, S. M. (2016). *Experts in public policymaking: Influential, yet constrained.* (PhD report), Oslo and Akershus College of Applied Sciences, Oslo.
- Thompson, P. B. (1999). Ethical issues in livestock cloning. *Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Ethics*, 11(3), 197–217. doi:10.1023/A:1009524328732
- Vedung, E. (1982). Political reasoning. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.
- — (1992). [Review of the book *Ideologiernas och religionens död: En analys av Herbert Tingstens ideologi- och religionskritik*, by Johan Lundborg]. *Statsvetenskaplig tidskrift*, 95(1), 96–106. Available at: http://journals.lub.lu.se/index.php/st/article/view/2903/2466 [last accessed 29 August 2016].
- Vibert, F. (2007). The rise of the unelected: Democracy and the new separation of powers. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Walters, L. (ed.) (1989). Bioethics commissions: International perspectives [Special issue]. *Journal of Medicine and Philosophy*, 14(4), 363–472.
- Walton, D., Reed, C. & Macagno, F. (2008). *Argumentation schemes*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Weber, M. (1994). "Objectivity" in social science and social policy. In M. Martin & L. C. McIntyre (eds), *Readings in the philosophy of social science*. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, pp. 535-545.
- Wolff, J. (2011). *Ethics and public policy: A philosophical inquiry*. London: Routledge.

ARENA Reports

- 16/3: Eilev Hegstad: "Advice from Moral Experts: An Assessment of the European Group on Ethics in Science and New Technologies (EGE)"
- 16/2: Astrid Lie Olsen: "Nordiske forvaltningsnettverk i en EU-kontekst: En casestudie av nettverksdeltakelsen til Direktoratet for samfunnssikkerhet og beredskap"
- 16/1: Veronica Thun: "Liberal, Communitarian or Cosmopolitan? The European Commission's Conceptualization of EU Citizenship"
- 15/4: Nina Merethe Vestlund: "Between Centralization and Decentralization: Decision behaviour in the EU's multilevel administrative system"
- 15/3: Linn Tomasdotter: "När smart specialisering kom till Norge: En organisationsteoretisk analys av flernivåinteraktion och EU:s mjukare sida"
- 15/2: Guri Rosén: "Striving for Influence: The European Parliament in EU Foreign Policy"
- 15/1: John Todd: "The British Self and the Continental Other: A Discourse Analysis of the United Kingdom's Relationship with Europe"
- 14/2: John Erik Fossum and Agustín José Menéndez (eds): "The European Union in Crises or the European Union as Crises?"
- 14/1: Cathrine Holst (ed.): "Expertise and Democracy"
- 13/1: Mats Petter Sydengen: "Norges deltakelse i Schengen-samarbeidet. En studie av embetsverkets beslutningsatferd i EUs komiesystem"
- 12/6: Christer Gulbrandsen: "Europeanisation in a Global Context: A Study of a National Maritime Safety Agency's Work with Global and European Rules"
- 12/5: Solveig Grønnestad: "Subsidiaritetsprinsippet og nasjonale parlamenters rolle i EU: Bakgrunnen for opprettelsen av The Early Warning System"
- 12/4: John Erik Fossum and Agustín José Menéndez (eds): "A Multitude Of Constitutions? European Constitutional Pluralism in Question" (RECON Report No 20)
- 12/3: Edoardo Chiti, Agustín José Menéndez and Pedro Gustavo Teixeira (eds): "The European Rescue of the European Union? The Existential Crisis of the European Political Project" (RECON Report No 19)
- 12/2: Olga Brzezińska, Erika Kurucz, Ulrike Liebert and Rosemarie Sackmann (eds): "Identity and Democracy in the New Europe: The Next Generation Finds Its Way" (RECON Report No 18)
- 12/1: Yvonne Galligan (ed.): "Deliberative Processes and Gender Democracy: Case Studies from Europe" (RECON Report No 17)

- 11/9: Beata Czajkowska (ed.): "Extending the Boundaries of Civic Membership: Polish NGOs as Change Agents" (RECON Report No 16)
- 11/8: Marianne Riddervold: "A Humanitarian Common Policy through Deliberation? On the Characteristics of EU Foreign Policy"
- 11/7: Ane Kristine Djupedal: "Recent Developments in the EU Migration Management Policy: EU-Cape Verde Mobility Partnership, Frontex and the Management of the European Borders"
- 11/6: Anne Linn Fløttum Høen: "Democratic Deliberation between Citizens in the EU: Is Plurilingualism and Multiculturalism Compatible with Democratic Deliberation?"
- 11/5: Flavia Carbonell, Agustín José Menéndez and John Erik Fossum (eds): "Hope, Reluctance or Fear? The Democratic Consequences of the Case Law of the European Court of Justice"
- 11/4: Christian Joerges and Tommi Ralli (eds): "After Globalisation: New Patters of Conflict and their Sociological and Legal Re-constructions" (RECON Report No 15)
- 11/3: Christian Joerges and Tommi Ralli (eds): "European Constitutionalism without Private Law Private Law without Democracy" (RECON Report No 14)
- 11/2: Rainer Forst and Rainer Schmalz-Bruns (eds): "Political Legitimacy and Democracy in Transnational Perspective" (RECON Report No 13)
- 11/1: Bernhard Aaboe Jensen: "En nasjonal, føderal eller regionaleuropeisk Union? En studie av Dansk Folkepartis og Venstres vurdering av EUs konstitusjonstraktat og Lisboa-traktat"
- 10/6: Pieter de Wilde: "How Politicisation Affects European Integration: Contesting the EU Budget in the Media Parliaments of the Netherlands, Denmark and Ireland"
- 10/5: Mathias Johannessen: "Single Sky Single Interest? National Interest Organizations and Their Ability to Establish and Make Use of a Common EU-level Platform"
- 10/4: Magdalena Góra and Zdzisław Mach (eds): "Collective Identitiy and Democracy. The Impact of EU Enlargement" (RECON Report No 12)
- 10/3: Erik O. Eriksen and John Erik Fossum (eds): "What Democracy for What Europe" (RECON Report No 11)
- 10/2: Maria Martens: "Organized Administrative Integration. The Role of Agencies in the European Administrative System"
- 10/1: Anne Elizabeth Stie: "Co-decision The Panacea for EU Democracy?"
- 09/7: Raúl Letelier and Agustín José Menéndez (eds): "The Sinews of European Peace: Reconstituting the Democratic Legitimacy of the Socioeconomic Constitution of the European Union" (RECON Report No 10)

- 09/6: Ingrid Weie Ytreland "Connecting Europe through Research Collaborations? A Case Study of the Norwegian Institute of Public Health"
- 09/5: Silje Gjerp Solstad: "Konkurransetilsynet et sted mellom Norge og EU?"
- 09/4: Nina Merethe Vestlund: "En integrert europeisk administrasjon? Statens legemiddelverk i en ny kontekst"
- 09/3: Carlos Closa (ed.): "The Lisbon Treaty and National Constitutions: Europeanisation and Democratic Implications" (RECON Report No 9)
- 09/2: Erik O. Eriksen and John Erik Fossum (eds): "RECON Theory in Practice" (RECON Report No 8)
- 09/1: Rainer Nickel (ed.): "Conflict of Laws and Laws of Conflict in Europe and Beyond: Patterns of Supranational and Transnational Juridification" (RECON Report No 7)
- 08/8: Savino Ruà: "The Europeanization of the Ministry of the Foreign Affairs of Finland"
- 08/7: Dirk Peters, Wolfgang Wagner and Nicole Deitelhoff (eds): "The Parliamentary Control of European Security Policy" (RECON Report No 6)
- 08/6: Ulrike Liebert and Hans-Jörg Trenz (eds): "Reconstituting Democracy from Below: New Approaches to Civil Society in the New Europe" (RECON Report No 5)
- 08/5: Christian Joerges and Poul F. Kjaer (eds): "Transnational Standards of Social Protection: Contrasting European and International Governance" (RECON Report No 4)
- 08/4: Agustín José Menéndez and John Erik Fossum (eds): "The Post-Sovereign Constellation: Law and Democracy in Neil D. MacCormick's Legal and Political Theory"
- 08/3: Andreas Heskestad: "Fra nasjonale enklaver til multinasjonale enheter? En kartlegging av Europakommisjonens kabinetter 1995-2007"
- 08/2: Nina Fredrikke Meyer Stensholt: "Between Norms and Interests EU Democracy Promotion in the Mediterranean Neighbourhood"
- 08/1: Martine Matre Bonarjee: "Primus inter pares? The Parliamentarisation and Presidentialisation of the European Commission: between European integration and organisational dynamics
- 07/8: Erik O. Eriksen (ed.): "How to Reconstitute Democracy in Europe? Proceedings from the RECON Opening Conference" (RECON Report No 3)
- 07/7: Joakim Parslow: "Turkish Political Parties and the European Union: How Turkish MPs Frame the Issue of Adapting to EU Conditionality"

- 07/6: Jonathan P. Aus: "Crime and Punishment in the EU: The Case of Human Smuggling"
- 07/5: Marit Eldholm: "Mot en europeisk grunnlov? En diskursteoretisk analyse av Konventet for EUs fremtid"
- 07/4: Guri Rosén: "Developing a European public sphere a conceptual discussion"
- 07/3: Hans-Jörg Trenz, Maximilian Conrad and Guri Rosén: "The Interpretative Moment of European Journalism The impact of media voice in the ratification process" (RECON Report No 2)
- 07/2: John Erik Fossum, Philip Schlesinger and Geir Ove Kværk (eds): "Public Sphere and Civil Society? Tranformations of the European Union"
- 07/1: Agustín José Menéndez (ed.): "Altiero Spinelli From Ventotene to the European Constitution" (RECON Report No 1)
- 06/2: Even Westerveld: "Sverige eller svenskenes EU?" hvordan ulike oppfatninger av EU kan påvirke valget av prosedyre for ratifiseringen av EU-grunnloven.
- 06/1: Erik Oddvar Eriksen, Christian Joerges and Florian Rödl (eds): "Law and Democracy in the Post-National Union".
- 05/9: Camilla Myhre: "Nettverksadministrative systemer i EU? En studie av det norske Post- og teletilsynet"
- 05/8: John Erik Fossum (ed.): "Constitutional processes in Canada and the EU compared"
- 05/7: Espen D.H. Olsen: "Mellom rettigheter, kultur og *cosmopolis*: En teoretisk og empirisk analyse av europeisering og statsborgerskap"
- 05/6: Marianne Takle: "From Ethnos to Demos? Changes in German Policy on Immigration"
- 05/5: Ingvild Jenssen: "The EU's minority policy and Europe's Roma: Cultural differentiation or cosmopolitan incorporation?"
- 05/4: Grete Berggård Feragen: "Europeisering av norsk gasspolitikk"
- 05/3: Erik O. Eriksen, John Erik Fossum and Agustín José Menéndez: "The European Constitution: the Rubicon Crossed?"
- 05/2: Helene Sjursen (ed.): "Enlargement in perspective"
- 05/1: Gitte Hyttel Nørgård: "Mod et netværk-administrativt system i EU? Et studie af den danske IT og Telestyrelse"
- 04/9: Agustín José Menéndez and Erik Oddvar Eriksen (eds): "Fundamental Rights through Discourse. On Robert Alexy's Legal Theory European and Theoretical Perspectives"

- 04/8: Geir-Martin Blæss: "EU og Habermas' diskursteoretiske demokratimodell. Et prosedyremessig rammeverk for et postnasjonalt demokrati?"
- 04/7: Veronika Witnes Karlson: "EU en normativ internasjonal aktør?. En analyse av Russland i EUs utenrikspolitikk"
- 04/6: Frode Veggeland: "Internasjonalisering og styring av matpolitikk. Institusjoners betydning for staters atferd og politikk"
- 04/5: Carlos Closa and John Erik Fossum (eds) "Deliberative Constitutional Politics in the EU"
- 04/4: Jan Kåre Melsæther: "Valgt likegyldighet. Organiseringen av europapolitisk informasjon i Stortinget og Riksdagen"
- 04/3: Karen Pinholt: "Influence through arguments? A study of the Commission's influence on the climate change negotiations"
- 04/2: Børge Romsloe: "Mellom makt og argumentasjon: En analyse av småstater i EUs felles utenriks- og sikkerhetspolitikk"
- 04/1: Karen Fløistad: "Fundamental Rights and the EEA Agreement"
- 03/7: Øivind Støle: "Europeanization in the Context of Enlargement. A Study of Hungarian Environmental Policy"
- 03/6: Geir Ove Kværk: "Legitimering gjennom rettigheter? En studie av arbeidet med EUs Charter om grunnleggende rettigheter, og sivilsamfunnets bidrag til dette"
- 03/5: Martin Hauge Torbergsen: "Executive Dominance in a Multi-level Polity. Europeanisation and Parliamentary Involvement in the Spanish Autonomous Communities"
- 03/4: Caroline Rugeldal: "Identitetsbygging i EU En studie av EUs symbolstrategi"
- 03/3: Elisabeth Hyllseth: "Lovlig skatt eller ulovlig statsstøtte? En studie av norske myndigheters respons i konflikten med ESA om den norske ordningen med differensiert arbeidsgiveravgift"
- 03/2: Erik O. Eriksen, Christian Joerges and Jürgen Neyer (eds): "European Governance, Deliberation and the Quest for Democratisation"
- 03/01: Maria Hasselgård: "Playing games with values of higher importance? Dealing with 'risk issues' in the Standing Committee on Foodstuffs".
- 02/11: Tommy Fredriksen: "Fra marked til plan. Europeisering av norsk lakseeksport".
- 02/10: Thomas A. Malla: "Nasjonalstat og region i den nye økonomien. En studie av hvordan betingelsene for politisk regulering av næringslivet i EU endres gjennom utbredelsen av markeder for elektronisk handel".

- 02/9: Anne Elizabeth Stie: "Preconditions for Democracy: National Identity Versus Constitutional Patriotism. A Theoretical Analysis of the German Federal Constitutional Court's Maastricht Judgement".
- 02/8: Marianne Riddervold: "Interesser, verdier eller rettigheter? En analyse av danske posisjoner i EUs utvidelsesprosess".
- 02/7: Helene Sjursen (ed.): "Enlargement and the Finality of the EU"
- 02/6: Various contributors: "Democracy and European Governance: Towards a New Political Order in Europe?" Proceedings from the ARENA European Conference 2002
- 02/5: Erik Oddvar Eriksen, John Erik Fossum and Agustín José Menéndez (eds): "Constitution Making and Democratic Legitimacy"
- 02/4: Heidi Moen: "Fører alle veger til Brussel? En studie av Vegdirektoratets tilpasning til EU og EØS-avtalen"
- 02/3: Trygve Ugland: "Policy Re-Categorization and Integration Europeanisation of Nordic Alcohol Control Policies"
- 02/2: Julie Wedege: "Sosial rettferdighet og normativ legitimitet En analyse av potensielle sosialpolitiske utviklinger i EU"
- 02/1: Øyvind Mehus Sjursen: "To motpoler konvergerer En analyse av britisk og tysk tilnærming til politi- og strafferettssamarbeidet i EU"
- 01/8: Erik Oddvar Eriksen, John Erik Fossum and Agustín José Ménendez (eds): "The Chartering of Europe The Charter of Fundamental Rights in Context"
- 01/7: Jarle Trondal: "Administrative Integration Across Levels of Governance Integration through Participation in EU-Committees"
- 01/6: Marthe Indset: "Subsidiaritetsprinsippet i EU etter IGC-96"
- 01/5: Liv Kjølseth: "Konflikt eller samarbeid? En analyse av medlemsstatenes adferd under Agenda 2000-forhandlingene og det institusjonelle forhandlingssystemet i EU"
- 01/4: Various Contributors: "Shaping the Union? Nordic Presidencies in the EU" Proceedings from the ARENA Annual conference 2000.
- 01/3: Svein S. Andersen (ed): "Institutional Approaches to the European Union proceedings from an ARENA workshop"
- 01/2: Maria Martens: "Europeisering gjennom overvåkning En studie av ESAs opprettelse og virkemåte"
- 01/1: Inger Johanne Sand: "Changes in the functions and the Relations of Law and Politics-Europeanization, Globalization and the Role of the New Technologies"
- 00/8: Ulf Sverdrup: "Ambiguity and Adaptation-Europeanization of Administrative Institutions as Loosely Coupled Processes"

- 00/7: Helene Sjursen (ed): "Redefining Security? Redefining the Role of The European Union in European Security Structures", Proceedings from an ARENA Workshop
- 00/6: Christian Henrik Bergh: "Implementering av EU-direktiv i Norge, Postdirektivet Nasjonal tilpasning i forkant"
- 00/5: Morten Dybesland: "Til felles nytte? Interesser og verdier bak nordisk utenriks- og sikkerhetspolitisk samarbeid"
- 00/4: Andreas Holm Bakke: "National Welfare and European Capitalism? The Attempt to Create a Common Market for Supplementary Pension"
- 00/3: Ingeborg Kjærnli: "Ikke bare makt og nasjonale interesser? En analyse av EUs utvidelse østover i et integrasjonsteoretisk perspektiv"
- 00/2: Jon Helge Andersen: "Fra atlantisk sikkerhet til europeisk usikkerhet? En studie av utenriksdepartementets og forsvarsdepartementets responser på endrede sikkerhetspolitiske rammebetingelser"
- 00/1: Various contributors: "Nordic Contrasts. Norway, Finland and the EU." Proceedings from the ARENA Annual Conference 1999
- 99/5: Elin Kristine Karlsson: "Babel i Brussel og Oslo? Flerspr¬kligheten i EU og respons i norske institusjoner"
- 99/4: Frøydis Eldevik: "Liberalisering av gassmarkedet i Europa. EUs gassdirektiv av 1998"
- 99/3: Theodor Barth & Magnus Enzell (eds): "Collective Identity and Citizenship in Europe. Fields of Access and Exclusion"
- 99/2: Simen Bræin: "Europeisering som rettsliggjñring. EØS-avtalen, EU og det norske alkoholmonopolet"
- 99/1: Various contributors: "Between Autonomy and Influence Small states and the European Union", Proceedings from ARENA•s Annual Conference 1998
- 98/2: Heidi Olsen: "'Europeisering' av Universitetet: Fullt og helt eller stykkevis og delt?"
- 98/1: Kjetil Moen: "Fra monopol til konkurranse. EØS, norsk legemiddelpolitikk og Norsk Medisinaldepot"
- 97/5: Jon Erik Dølvik: "Redrawing Boundaries of Solidarity? ETUC, Social Dialogue and the Europeanisation of Trade Unions in the 1990s"
- 97/4: Stig Eliassen & Pål Meland: "Nasjonal identitet i statslñse nasjoner. En sammenliknende studie av Skottland og Wales"
- 97/3: Frode Veggeland: "Internasjonalisering og Nasjonale Reformforsñk. EU, GATT og endringsprosessene i Landbruksdepartementet og jordbrukssektoren"

- 97/2: Vebjørn Dysvik: "The Road to Maastricht. Dynamic and Formative Forces in the EMU Process"
- 97/1: Jon Erik Dølvik: "ETUC and Europeanisation of Trade Unionism in the 1990's"
- 96/2: Tom Christensen: "Adapting to Processes of Europeanisation A Study of the Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs"
- 96/1: Various contributors: "Enlargement to the East". Proceedings from 'European Thresholds' ARENA Conference Series

Moral experts – people who presumably know more about moral issues than others – play an important role in giving advice to governments on how to deal with ethical questions. The existence of ethics committees raises fundamental normative questions concerning the limits and the legitimate role of moral experts in decision-making processes. This report is based on the assumption that moral expertise exists, and that the legitimacy of ethics committees is intimately linked to their members' performance as moral experts.

The European Commission has a vast number of advisory committees. The European Group on Ethics in Science and New Technologies (EGE) is composed of philosophers, theologians, lawyers and scientists and gives advice on ethical questions. This report evaluates the EGE's work in the field of animal cloning for food supply by assessing its members' deliberation on the basis of three concerns: logical validity, empirical soundness and normative reasonableness. Findings suggest that while EGE's recommendations are logically valid, there are certain shortcomings on empirical soundness. Moreover, as different ethical viewpoints are not presented and the degree of justification is low, the report finds that normative reasonableness is the criterion that the EGE is furthest from meeting.

Eilev Hegstad has a Master of Political Science from the University of Oslo. He was affiliated with ARENA through the student scholarship.

ARENA Centre for European Studies at the University of Oslo promotes theoretically oriented, empirically informed studies, analyzing the dynamics of the evolving European political order.



P.O. Box 1143, Blindern N-0318 Oslo, Norway Tel. (+47) 22 85 87 00 arena@arena.uio.no www.arena.uio.no